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It is with pleasure that, on behalf of the Board of Directors of the 
Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd (ARTC), I present our Annual 
Report for 2009/2010.

Chairman’s 
Report

The past 12 months, ARTC’s 12th 
year of operation, have been both 
challenging and significant. 

The outfalls of the Global 
Financial Crisis are still being 
experienced with impacts 
evident in the markets we 
service . But from adversity we 
have seized opportunities and 
worked with our shareholder, 
the Australian Government, 
in delivering infrastructure 
enhancements all across our 
rail network . 

Without infrastructure, Australia 
will neither grow nor prosper . 

Delivering a robust and 
reliable rail network – vital 
national infrastructure – that 
links Australia east-west and 
north-south, moving freight and 
passengers and underpinning 
the nation’s transport and 
logistics networks, are at the 
core of ARTC operations .

ARTC is a major participant 
in enhancing Australia’s 
economic growth and economic 
prosperity, in the development 

and maintenance of interstate 
rail networks . 

Through equity investments from 
the Australian Government, allied 
with its own capital raisings, ARTC 
was able to expand its existing 
investment and capital works 
programs to assist in delivering 
productivity benefits to the 
national economy via upgrades to 
the transport infrastructure .

Like the economy, transport 
infrastructure is not bound by 
State borders . In the same way 
as, for example, the Victorian or 
New South Wales economies do 
not end at their respective State 
borders, the rail networks extend 
beyond borders .

Transport infrastructure, like 
energy, water and communications, 
is national, and a national 
approach and strategy are what 
ARTC adopts in the operation and 
expansion of its network . 

There is almost no part of the 
10,000-kilometre ARTC network 
that has not seen enhancement 
activity – planned or delivered . 
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Those activities can be witnessed 
in inner city locations in Sydney 
and Melbourne as well as in 
remote and vast stretches of the 
Nullarbor Plain .

Along the east-west and north-
south corridors and throughout 
the Hunter Valley network, ARTC 
is building better rail networks . 
From Acacia Ridge in Brisbane right 
through to Kalgoorlie in Western 
Australia, ARTC track is undergoing 
revitalisation, reinforcing rail’s real 
and integral primary transport role . 

Relics on the main line, the 
wooden sleepers, are being 
replaced by more reliable and 
longer lasting (and better for the 
environment) concrete sleepers .

Curves are being eased 
throughout the network to 
improve transit times . 

Grades are also being eased, 
improving transit times and 
improving reliability .

The Hunter Valley network, which 
transports energy resources to 
the export Port of Newcastle and 
the power stations supplying 
the national electricity grid, 
continues to be expanded to 
ensure the rail system meets the 
demand capacity of national and 
international customers .

In all the projects, planned or 
underway, ARTC has sought 
to deliver:

Improvements to economic • 
productivity within the 
transport sector .
Environmental benefits, • 
particularly through reduced 
greenhouse gas emissions .
Enhanced rail  • 
transport performance .
Creation of new employment • 
opportunities and existing 
employment security .

The results of the past year could 
not have been achieved without 
the strong partnership between 
ARTC and its shareholder, the 
Australian Government . That 
partnership also extends to 
our above-rail customers, our 
suppliers, our business partners 
and our hard working and 
dedicated staff .

My fellow Directors and I 
recognise this vital contribution 
to the success and growth 
of ARTC and know it will 
continue in the future as this 
organisation continues with its 
inexorable growth .

During the year two Directors and 
the Chairman retired from the 
Board of ARTC .

I wish to express my thanks 
for the significant contribution 
of Andrea Staines and Owen 
Johnstone-Donnet.

On behalf of all our staff, our 
partners and our Board of 
Directors, I want to recognise 

the contribution of the outgoing 
Chairman, Barry Murphy . It 
is with gratitude that ARTC 
farewells Barry Murphy, who was 
Chairman of ARTC for more than 
10 years .

Barry Murphy joined ARTC in 1999 
with an extensive background in 
the energy sector . He presided 
over a strong period of growth 
in interstate freight rail . 
Undoubtedly, one of the most 
significant achievements during 
Mr Murphy’s tenure was ARTC’s 
entry into New South Wales via the 
60 year lease of the main line tracks 
and the Hunter Valley network .

ARTC thanks Barry Murphy for 
his commitment not only to the 
company but also to the resurgence 
of freight rail in Australia .

 

John Caldon 
Chairman
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The 2009/2010 financial year saw an improvement in intermodal rail 
freight volumes over 2008/2009 levels which in the second half of 
the financial year reflected the impact of the Global Financial Crisis. 
Although the volumes have improved, the market is still soft post the 
peak of the Global Financial Crisis.

Chief 
Executive 
Officer’s 
Report

A large portion of the investment 
was dedicated to completing 
concrete resleepering in Victoria 
along side the standard gauge 
track ARTC converted from 
broad gauge between Albury 
and Seymour . 

The Cootamundra to Parkes 
line was substantially upgraded 
with the provision of concrete 
sleepers, turnout improvements 
and track improvement . 

The main line between Acacia 
Ridge and the Queensland 
border has been upgraded with 
concrete sleepers and new 
signal technology .

Significantly, in January 2010 ARTC 
signed a 60 year lease with the 
Queensland Government trans-
ferring the Queensland standard 
gauge rail line from the Queensland 
border to Acacia Ridge to ARTC .

This arrangement unifies the 
interstate freight rail network 
through a common set of 
standards from Queensland to 
Western Australia and is a major 
step forward in the development 
of the national standard gauge 
mainline rail network into a ‘one 
stop shop’ from Brisbane to Perth .

The lease will enable single 
access contracts for train 
operators from Acacia Ridge 
Terminal in Queensland to 
Kalgoorlie (WA) and Melbourne, 
excluding the Sydney Metro area .

It will facilitate common network 
rules, operating standards and 
access regulation in place of six 
individual state arrangements 
which dominated the history of 
rail administration in this country .

$580 million of the Australian 
Government’s equity injection 

The intermodal volumes in 
2009/2010 were 1 .5% below the 
GTK levels in 2008/2009, however, 
it should be noted that the second 
half of 2009-2010 reflected a 6.2% 
increase over the second half of 
2008/2009. Steel traffic GTK’s 
decreased by 5 .0% in 2009/2010 
in comparison with 2008/2009, 
however, the second half of 2009-
2010 reflected a 13.0% increase over 
the second half of 2008/2009 . Grain 
volumes in 2009-2010 increased 
by 5 .4% over 2008/2009 with the 
second half of 2009-2010 reflecting 
a 1 .3% decrease in comparison 
with the second half of 2008/2009 .

Coal GTK levels increased by 5 .9% 
over 2008/2009, however, the 
second half of 2009-2010 reflected 
a 6 .9% increase over the second 
half of 2008/2009 .

ARTC’s total revenue has increased 
from $565 million in 2008/09 to 
$605 million in 2009/2010 .

Net profit from operations 
(excluding interest, income tax 
and impairment) increased from 
$44 million in 2008/2009 to $70 
million in 2009/2010 .

Net profit after interest, tax and 
impairment was $94 million in 
2009/2010, representing a major 
improvement as compared to a net 
loss of $544 million in 2008/2009 .

In December 2008, the Australian 
Government announced that over 
the next two years, it would invest 
$1 .2 billion equity into ARTC to en-
able a range of projects to improve 
the reliability and competitiveness 
of the national rail freight network .

Over the past year ARTC has 
completed many projects 
associated with this stimulus 
investment and upgraded key 
freight links on the North South 
and East West corridors . 

Between Melbourne, Sydney 
and Brisbane the Government’s 
investment complemented the $2 .4 
billion upgrade of the North South 
line being undertaken by ARTC .

Together these upgrades have 
seen significant transit time 
improvement being achieved 
as part of the new North South 
timetables released over the 
course of the year . 
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was invested in the Hunter 
Valley bringing the total ARTC 
investment in that network to 
approximately $1 .3 billion .

Over the course of the year, 
several stimulus investment 
projects were completed 
including Braefield Loop and 
Newdell Junction on the Main 
Line along with Murrumbo and 
Baerami Loops on the Ulan Line .

The Minimbah Bank 3rd Road 
project was commissioned in 
May 2010 overcoming numerous 
wet weather delays . This vital 
piece of rail infrastructure is 
designed to reduce the gradient 
of the Minimbah Bank, increasing 
efficiency of train movements and 
adding capacity to the coal link .

The objective of ARTC’s 
investment in the Hunter Valley is 
to increase the current capacity of 
the coal chain to export 97 million 
tonnes per annum of coal and 
reach the projected level of 200 
million tonnes of coal by 2014 .

In the May 2010 Federal Budget, 
the Government announced that it 
will invest approximately $1 billion 
in equity in Australian Rail Track 
Corporation (ARTC) to build on 
existing investment strategies and 
deliver productivity benefits to the 
overall economy through invest-
ment in transport infrastructure . 

ARTC has identified key projects 
which are being brought 
on-line to provide productivity 
improvements for the economy 
and the transport sector .

The new program of works is tar-
geted to deliver improvements to 
the performance of rail transport 
and will assist in reducing green-
house gas emissions and boost 
employment opportunities .

It is estimated that the full 
spectrum of projects will lead to 
13,135 months of employment and 
result in 218,257 tonnes of CO2 
emissions saved .

On the North South rail corridor 
projects include: curve easing on 58 
sites on the North Coast; passing 
loops on the double-track between 
Yass and Southern Sydney to 
facilitate overtaking moves; and 
rerailing 239 track km between 
Albury, Melbourne and Geelong .

On the East West corridor 
projects include: resleepering of 
the main line interstate network 
between Broken Hill and Parkes; 
rerailing of 794km of track 
between Whyalla and Broken Hill 
and Parkes and Cootamundra; 
construction of four new passing 
loops between Gheringhap and 
Maroona; and the improvement 
in axle loads and speeds of 
services in the Kalgoorlie to 
Koolyanobbing section, through 
a combination of additional loops 
and rerailing in heavier rail .

The works between Parkes and 
Broken Hill completes the full 
concrete resleepering of the 
Defined Interstate Rail Network.

In the financial year ARTC 
continued the construction of 
the Southern Sydney Freight 
Line . The program has been 
delayed due to the complexities 
of development within urban 
Sydney and the significant 
interface issues in building within 
an existing urban rail network . 
The project will continue through 
2010/2011 .

The extension of the SSFL 
construction program and its 
additional time to complete will 
add additional costs to ARTC for 
this project .

The New South Wales 
Government through CRIA 
has gone to the market to seek 
providers who may be able to 
undertake the management 
and service delivery function of 
the CRN . ARTC has not been 
selected to participate in the final 
evaluation process . Subject to 
the outcome of the process ARTC 
may not continue as the manager 
of the New South Wales Country 
Regional Network . The process 
will be concluded in 2010/2011 
financial year.

The thoughts of all ARTC go to 
the family of an ARTC contractor 
who was killed in an incident 
on our network this year . This 
incident has reinforced our 
commitment to further enhance 
and improve work place safety . 
The Lost Time Injury Frequency 
Rate fell to 3 this year and efforts 
are being made throughout the 
company to reduce this further .

2010/2011 provides a continuing 
opportunity to improve the 
performance of the network 
with the planned completion of 
major projects on the interstate 
network between Melbourne 
and Brisbane and major 
enhancement projects in the 
Hunter Valley . 

The great challenge for 2010/2011 
is for the rail industry to build upon 
the infrastructure improvement 
and the effects of the Global 
Financial Crisis and increase rail’s 
volume and market share on the 
North-South Corridor .

 

David Marchant 
Chief Executive Officer
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17 July 2009

Year in  
Review

2009 
July

01
The modernisation of the 
Melbourne-Sydney-Brisbane 
rail corridor continues with 
the upgrade of a major 
passing loop at Killawarra in 
northern New South Wales .

The $1 .4 million upgrade to 
the Killawarra passing loop 
involved replacing one of the 
existing ‘turnouts’ to allow for 
an entry speed of 50kph as well 
as some track realignment .

14
ARTC calls for industry input 
into the development of the 
Hunter Valley Corridor Capac-
ity Strategy for 2009 to 2018 .

17
Construction work stepped 
up a gear on the Minimbah 

Bank Third rail project to 
improve reliability and 
capacity of the Hunter Valley 
Rail Network to Newcastle .

29
ARTC today signs an 
agreement with Leighton 
Contractors to create the 
Upper Hunter Valley Alliance 
which will deliver a $152 million 
program of works on the 
Hunter Valley Rail corridor .

31
ARTC awards Macmahon 
Holdings Limited (ASX:MAH) 
and MVM Rail a significant 
work contract as part of 
the $100 million Ulan Line 
Alliance program .

August

05
$45 million upgrade of 
the line between Albury 

and Seymour in Victoria 
completed . The project 
involved replacing all the 
existing timber sleepers with 
225,000 new concrete sleepers .

The installation of boom 
gates and other safety 
measures at priority level 
rail crossings in New South 
Wales commences .

The upgrade of the 201 
kilometre link between 
Cootamundra to Parkes 
section commences .

The $91 .5 million project was 
designed to replace worn 
track as well as all the timber 
sleepers with 301,000 new 
concrete sleepers .

12
A major track ‘possession’ 
to undertake work on close 
to a hundred separate sites 
on the Hunter Valley gets 
underway . The 48 hr posses-

sion included 92 individual 
projects to be undertaken at 
various locations .

14
The $28 million duplication of 
the rail line between St Helier 
and Muswellbrook completed . 
The St Helier to Muswellbrook 
upgrade created about 50 jobs 
and duplicated two kilometres 
of track extending south east 
of Muswellbrook .

September

05
100 tonne steel girder lowered 
across Sunshine Road, as 
part of the new Brooklyn 
Sunshine Triangle bridge .

11
The vital rail link between 
Moss Vale and Campbelltown 
benefits from a 48 hour pack-
age of improvement works .

29 July 2009
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The $800,000 package 
of works involved 
track reconditioning; 
turnout retimbering; 
rail resurfacing; rail 
straightening and repair of 
any minor defects such as 
small wheel burns .

26
Investment in the rail 
corridor between Brisbane, 
Sydney and Melbourne 
continues with the opening 
of a new passing loop 
at Mindaribba between 
Maitland and Dungog in New 
South Wales .

The $13 .6 million passing 
loop replaced an obsolete 
700m passing loop with new 
infrastructure long enough 
to cater for 1500m trains .

October 

12
The vital rail link between 
Marulan, Moss Vale and 

Aylmerton benefits from rail 
grinding . The grinding util-
ised an 84 stone Loram rail 
grinder to improve the ‘face’ 
of the rail .

23
Work commences on the 
upgrade of the line between 
the New South Wales border 
and the Brisbane suburb of 
Acacia Ridge . 

The $55 .8 million project 
replaced existing timber 
sleepers with 105,000 new 
concrete sleepers and 
support 120 jobs .

28
Opening of the newly 
upgraded passing loop at 
Kerewong between Herons 
Creek and Wauchope in New 
South Wales .

The $9 .8 million project 
increased the length of the 
existing passing loop and 
installed two new turnouts 

– infrastructure able to cater 
for much longer trains .

November

16
Large package of upgrades 
commences on the Hunter 
Valley rail corridor . 

The $20 million package of 
upgrades included almost 70 
individual projects . 

19
ARTC reaches a major 
milestone in Australian 
construction history at 
Stawell in Victoria, with 
the laying of the 3 millionth 
concrete railway sleeper in 
succession since 2006 . 

The laying of the 3 millionth 
concrete sleeper represents a 
benchmark construction feat 
that surpasses the laying 
of the Trans-Australian line 
from Adelaide to Kalgoorlie 
in the 70’s by 30km .

28
New passing loop opens 
at Braefield New South 
Wales between Tamworth 
and Muswellbrook . The 
$11 .1 million passing loop 
caters for 1350m trains .

December

03
New passing loop 
at Worondi between 
Muswellbrook and Gulgong 
New South Wales opens . 

The $14 million project 
involved the construction 
of a new two kilometre 
passing loop, including new 
turnouts, rail and around 
3,100 new sleepers .

Passing loop at Loadstone 
between Casino New South 
Wales and Acacia Ridge  
QLD opens. 

The $7 .1 million project 
involved ARTC increasing the 

05 August 2009 05 September 2009
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10 December 2009 15 January 2010

length of the crossing loop 
and installing a new over 
bridge; the new infrastructure 
is now long enough to cater 
for 1500m trains . 

08
The 201 kilometre 
Cootamundra to Parkes 
concrete re-sleepering 
project is completed .

The $91 .5 million project 
replaced worn track as well as 
all the timber sleepers with 
301,000 new concrete sleepers .

10
David Marchant puts 
ARTC’s case at the National 
Infrastructure Forum at 
the National Press Club in 
Canberra ACT .

11
ARTC releases the 
results and working 

papers of Stage 2 of the 
Melbourne-Brisbane Inland 
Rail Alignment Study .

31
Project to lay 33,000 new 
concrete sleepers in the Metro 
freight connection between 
Tottenham and Somerton in 
Melbourne completed .

The $6 million project was 
completed in the near record 
time of 4 days . ARTC teams 
worked around the clock to 
install the large volume of 
new concrete sleepers along 
the 22km section of track 
before the New Year .

2010 
January

15
The Queensland standard 
gauge rail line from the 
Queensland border to Acacia 
Ridge is transferred to ARTC 
under a 60 year lease

The lease represents a 
major step forward in the 
development of the national 
standard gauge mainline 
rail network into a ‘one stop 
shop’ from Brisbane to Perth .

Completion of a $55 .8 million 
concrete resleepering project 
between the Queensland 
border and Acacia Ridge . ARTC 
completed laying 105,000 
concrete sleepers as well as new 
line and signal infrastructure .

21
Mr John Caldon appointed as 
the new Chair of the ARTC .

24
Major signal upgrade in the 
Dynon precinct in Victoria 
is completed .

The signal upgrade project 
formed the second stage of a 
three stage project known as 
Missing Link . As well as the 
signal upgrades, the project 
included a total upgrade of 
Dock Link Rd level crossing 
which is the busiest crossing 
in the port precinct of 
Melbourne with an average 
of 1,000 truck movements 
each day .

29 
ARTC completes the final 
stage of the $105 million 
upgrade of the rail link 
between Melbourne and the 
South Australian border .

The project included the 
upgrade of the dual gauge 
track between Melbourne and 
Geelong with new rail and 
concrete sleepers . Completion 
of the $6 million final stage 
project involved laying 
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03 March 2010

26,500 sleepers over 8km of 
track between Tottenham 
and Newport and 10km of 
track between Gheringhap 
and North Geelong .

February 

09 
Two new passing loops 
between Kalgoorlie and the 
Western Australia/South 
Australia border completed .

The project involved the 
construction of two new 
1,850 metre passing loops 
and turnouts as well as the 
laying of 6,000 new concrete 
sleepers and eight kilometres 
of new track .

March

03
Official opening of bridges on 
the Golden Highway and at 
Range Road near Singleton 
as part of ARTC’s Minimbah 
Bank Third Rail project .

The bridges were constructed 
as part of Stage 1 of the $134 
million project to upgrade 
the 32km of line between 
Maitland to Whittingham, 
specifically designed to 
increase rail capacity by 
reducing the incline at the 
Minimbah bank .

April

15
The $4 .5 million project 
to construct a 1,850 metre 
passing loop is completed 
on the East West corridor 
near the township of Cook 
– a task that required the 
laying of 3,000 new concrete 
sleepers and four kilometres 
of new track .

May 

01
Upgrade of passing loop at 
Bolivar completed . The $4 .5 
million project extended the 
length of the passing loop to 

1,800 metres - infrastructure 
able to cater for much 
longer trains .

10
A major track ‘possession’ to 
undertake work on close to a 
hundred separate sites on the 
Hunter Valley gets underway .

The 72 hour possession 
included 88 individual 
projects to be undertaken at 
various locations .

11
The Federal Government 
announces that it will invest 
$1 billion into ARTC to build on 
existing investment strategies 
and deliver productivity 
benefits to the overall 
economy through investment 
in transport infrastructure . 

This equity injection 
supplements the previous 
Nation Building investment 
of $1 .2 billion made by the 
Australian Government 

under the Nation Building 
Economic Stimulus Package 
in 2008 .

June 

04
Stage 1 of the Minimbah 
Bank Third Rail project is 
officially opened. The $134 
million project involved the 
upgrading of the 32km of 
line between Maitland to 
Whittingham, specifically 
designed to increase rail 
capacity by reducing the 
incline at the Minimbah bank .
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The overall objective of the ARTC Financial 
Division continues to be to support ARTC’s 
commercial objectives and business operations, 
whilst complying with all relevant accounting 
standards, ARTC Stakeholder, Shareholder 
and other relevant regulatory requirements . 
The Finance Division works in partnership 
with ARTC Operating Divisions to support 
the ongoing delivery of corporate objectives, 
whilst maintaining an independent perspective 
and ensuring the integrity of financial data 
and process . The dual roles of support and 
governance compel Finance employees to 
continually be alert in their interactions with 
others and maintain a high level of current 
knowledge and professionalism .

Management Accounting

The focus of the Management Accounting 
team is on the delivery of accurate, relevant 
and timely information to the ARTC Board, 
management and other stakeholders . The close 
alignment of the Management Accounting 
staff with each of the divisions is a key factor 
in achieving this outcome by ensuring there 
is mutual understanding of the financial 
implications of operational outcomes .

Andrew Bishop
Chief Financial Officer

Chief Financial 
Officer’s Division
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Procurement and Contracts

During the year the Contracts area has implemented 
a new database to streamline and enhance the 
management of the contract administration 
process from initial request to execution of the 
final contract. Coupled with this the contract 
templates have been standardised and updated . A 
further initiative has seen the Plant Hire contracts 
integrated into the contracts database to draw 
on economies of scale for management and 
administration purposes .

Major Materials

Concrete Sleepers•   
Over 3 million Concrete Sleepers have been supplied 
from Austrak and Rocla for Major Projects within the 
ARTC Corridor. This includes the Dual Gauge for the 
QR Project Acacia Ridge to Bromleton .

Vossloh Turnouts•   
150 Turnouts/Crossovers have been supplied 
against the Contract . Of these 132 have been 
installed and the remaining 18 are held in stock for 
future Projects commencing between 2010 and 2012 .

Other Turnouts•  
Other Turnouts have been procured and supplied 
for East West, Botany Yard, Queensland Rail and 
the SSFL Projects .

Rail for QR•  
1640 x 27 .5m legs were ordered and transported 
to Spotswood, Victoria for welding into 110m legs . 
This has now been completed and the rail has 
been delivered to QR and installed .

Fleet Management

ARTC fleet reductions continued throughout 
2009/2010 with a further 5% reduction in total 
vehicles. Coupled with this the projected fleet 
replacement program has continued with 10% of 
the remaining fleet being replaced in 2009/2010. 
Fleet insurance claims continued to fall with a 30% 
reduction on the previous year .  

Corporate Accounting

The Corporate Accounting business unit provides a 
blend of business support, compliance and governance 
related activities in the following areas: transactional 
accounting, financial systems, financial reporting, 
taxation, treasury, management accounting and 
payroll, in partnership with the operational division 
to enable them to continue to deliver the ongoing 
business requirements . Highlights for the 2009/2010 
year included:

Financial modelling and engagement with • 
Shareholders to support equity injections totalling 
$766 .9 million during 2009/2010 to support 
delivery of the Federal Government Nation 
Building Economic Stimulus Package works .

Execution of a 3 year $550 million Syndicated • 
Debt Facility Agreement with the four major 
Australian Banks .

Comprehensive review of ARTC Treasury Policies • 
together with development of an Interest Rate 
Risk Management/Hedging Strategy to protect 
ARTC’s position in the event of unfavourable 
interest rate movements in the financial 



11

markets, as well as ensuring compliance with 
covenants and undertakings applicable to 
ARTC’s debt facilities .

Processing over 50,000 invoices per year to • 
achieve on time payment to suppliers of suitably 
approved items with online access for end users 
and continuing enhancement to streamline 
transactional processes .

Payroll

Following the implementation of self service functions 
within a pilot group last year, this system, which 
allows employees to view their leave balances and 
book leave online, has been successfully rolled out to 
all non-infrastructure employees across the company . 

The payroll time and attendance system has been further 
developed to allow for the costing of labour to jobs . This 
functionality has been implemented within a pilot group 
and provides one source of data entry for both timesheet 
entry for payroll processing, and costing entry of labour 
to jobs . Additionally, this implementation provides 
a consistent business process for the provisioning 
centres, and more accurate job costing of labour .

Financial Systems

2009/2010 was a busy year with many achievements 
happening behind the scenes giving a seamless front 
end to users and consumers of financial information. 
These included:

Ci Financials Upgrade•  
Significant upgrade of financials software to ensure 
the latest functionality is available to users to enable 
them to accurately report to all stakeholders .

PRS (Project Reporting System) Improvements•  
Significant processing time improvements have 
enabled Project Managers to more efficiently 
enter their forecasts for dollars and scope in a 
timely fashion .

Budgeting Module•  
Installation of new financial budgeting module 
to enable Management Accountants to enter and 
manage their budgets more efficiently.

Greenhouse Gases•  
Analysis, implementation and capture of 
Greenhouse gas data to enable ARTC to monitor 

Steamfest 2010 
Hunter Valley, New South Wales

and report our carbon footprint and comply with 
the relevant legislation .

Property Management

The Property business unit is responsible for 
managing all arrangements for access to ARTC’s 
railway corridor by third parties including utility 
providers, Councils, adjacent land owners and others . 
In addition to managing over 2,000 leases or licenses 
of ARTC owned buildings and/or land, it also handles 
arrangements for new and existing siding connections 
together with environmental and heritage issues .

Environmental Management

ARTC is playing an active role in both the climate 
change and greenhouse gas debate .  ARTC supports 
the introduction of a Carbon Pollution Reduction 
Scheme for Australia and actively participates through 
its membership of the Australian Railway Association in 
the development and implementation of an appropriate 
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scheme . In addition, ARTC is also developing a 
national greenhouse gas emission and energy 
consumption report for its activities that will facilitate 
the development and implementation of efficiency 
initiatives . ARTC has been instrumental with the 
development of an ‘in house’ comprehensive database 
system for monitoring and tracking its emissions .

In New South Wales, ARTC is continuing to develop 
various pollution reduction programs under its 
Environmental Protection Licence .  Studies into 
fugitive coal dust from trains and noise nuisance 
associated with the use of detonators are 
being undertaken to drive improvements in the 
environmental performance of ARTC’s network .  
Furthermore ARTC has established an acoustic 
monitoring location for data collection and studies 
into locomotive noise sources .   

In South Australia, ARTC continues to monitor rail noise 
in the Adelaide Hills through its RailSQAD site located 
at Heathfield as part of its Environmental Improvement 
Program (EIP)- associated with its Environmental 
Protection Licence, to mitigate wheel squeal . 

Data from the Heathfield site is forwarded to train 
operators, which are also separately licensed by the 
EPA, to assist with their own noise mitigation strategies .

Heritage Management

During the year, ARTC continued to manage its 
heritage assets in a proactive manner including 
regular inspections by infrastructure management 
and property management staff .

At 30 June 2010, ATC was responsible for 258 heritage 
listed assets located in South Australia, Victoria and 
New South Wales, with a further 306 assets managed 
as part of the Country Regional Network for the New 
South Wales rail authorities . 

ARTC’s heritage management processes include 
detailed registers and regular reviews that are 
focused on meeting all statutory obligations at each 
individual State level, with particular attention to the 
potential implications for heritage listed items of its 
infrastructure investment program . 
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The charter of the Office of Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) is to primarily ensure uniform principles, 
practices and planning are being applied across 
the ARTC network. This is reflected in consistency 
of standards, systems and procedures and the 
provision of oversight of the strategic objectives of 
the corridors .

To achieve these principles there are four teams within 
the Office of COO:

Standards, Systems and Performance• 
Operations Planning• 
Network Sustainability• 
Southern Sydney Freight Line Project• 

Standards, Systems and Performance

One of the key challenges for the Standards, Systems 
and Performance team is to achieve consistency and 
uniformity (as far as practical) across the network 
in ARTC standards, procedures, systems and 
performance monitoring .

In the 2009/2010 financial year, the Standards, 
Systems and Performance team was able to achieve 
regulatory approval and implementation of an ARTC 
Code of Practice into selected corridors . 

Wayne James
Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating 
Officer’s Report
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The new network-wide standards have been achieved 
through the combined efforts, over many years, of 
many ARTC staff . This process included detailed risk 
assessments using the “So Far As Is Reasonably 
Practicable” (SFAIRP) process . ARTC looks forward to 
completing the implementation of these standards in 
2010/2011 following the extensive regulatory approval 
process undertaken .

The team also undertook the development of the 
Route Access Standard (RAS) manual . The RAS 
manual is designed around ARTC’s role as the 
manager of the network, rather than as the owner 
or lessee of rolling stock. The RAS reflects ARTC’s 
limitations in terms of being able to impose conditions 
on any maintainers or repairers of rolling stock . ARTC 
remains committed to pursuing regulator approval 
and implementing the RAS Manual in 2010/2011 .

As part of the Australian Government’s Nation 
Building Economic Stimulus Package, the team 
managed the “Boom Gate for Level Crossing 
Program” . This consisted of the engineering, 
procurement, construction and commissioning 
of boom gates for 83 level crossings throughout 
South Australia and New South Wales and 
effectively upgraded the 83 level crossings from 
passive to active at a cost of $54 .5 million over a 12 
month period .

The Performance team, given the financial downturn 
effect, have focused on reviewing productivity 
opportunities going forward associated with ARTC 
asset management plans such as rail replacement, 
grinding and tamping cycles .

Operations Planning 

The Operations Planning team covers the areas of 
major timetable production, timetable modelling, 
simulation and rail network configuration management.

Over the course of the year the Operations Planning 
team have managed the extension of the rail 
modelling and simulation capabilities to support 
improved network efficiency and greater insight 
into proposed infrastructure options from a rail 
timetable perspective .  Examples include the North 
South Corridor timetable with planned infrastructure 
enhancements to achieve improved transit times, 
and the Hunter Valley coal infrastructure at key 
capacity limitation points to examine coal tonnage 
that can be achieved .

The ARTC Operations Planning team has been able to 
create new master train plans that incorporate new 
infrastructure whilst working closely with a number of 
rail operators to alter their train services to best deal 



15

with the effects of the economic climate that prevailed 
in the reporting period .

The team also oversaw the introduction of a new train 
numbering system for intrastate trains that provides a 
uniform approach across the ARTC network .

Review of the rail network configuration management 
process has been a significant feature of the teams’ 
efforts . The revised procedure has been approved 
and implemented involving training of all relevant 
organisational users .

They also oversaw the consolidation of the two drawing 
management systems from South Australia/Western 
Australia and New South Wales into a unified system.

Network Sustainability

The Network Sustainability group overview asset 
condition and maintenance practices in the field. The 
progress of the team in 2009/2010 can be separated 
into three distinct areas .

Geotech 

As part of their work, the Network Sustainability 
group managed the successful completion of trials of 
a Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) system which will 
be a useful tool in the future to manage formation 
problems . Two systems were trialled on the Main 
South in New south Wales, Victoria and Hunter Valley .

They also managed the installation of geogrid trials at 
Singleton, which if successful, will provide improved 
formation performance under the heavy axle loads in 
the Hunter Valley .

Structures

ARTC’s Bridge Management System (BMS) was 
implemented in South Australia, Victoria and New 
South Wales and the training of all structures staff in 
the use of BMS was completed . 

The groups input into the replacement of major bridge 
structures was ongoing, in particular the work associated 
with geotechnical problems at the Bathurst Bridge .

In addition, the Structure Section (Section 9) of the ARTC 
Code of Practice was introduced in South Australia 
and Victoria .

Bridge Steel Girder Replacement
Wauchope, New South Wales
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Track Assets and Rail Husbandry

The Cootamundra to Parkes upgrade saw scoping 
and input review to ensure best value for “Stimulus 
Dollar” achieved.  The works on this section will set 
a potential test bed for axle load/speed goals on the 
lighter rail section .

During the year a greater understanding was 
obtained in the detail of the finite life of the rail 
asset, particularly the “light” 47 kg/m rail which 
constitutes the majority of the Interstate network . 
This was achieved through research projects and field 
measurements for in-house and university analysis 
and converting that research into practical actions to 
address the commercial axle load and speed needs of 
train operations . 

Southern Sydney Freight Line Project

The Southern Sydney Freight Line Project (SSFL) 
group continued with the construction of the SSFL . 

The SSFL is part of ARTC’s overall plan to improve the 
efficiency and cost effectiveness of freight rail along 
the North South Rail Corridor between Brisbane, 
Sydney and Melbourne .

The SSFL is a 36 kilometre dedicated freight line 
to separate freight trains from passenger trains 
entering Sydney from the South . This will give freight 
trains unimpeded access to the metropolitan freight 
network in Sydney South, including the terminals at 
Port Botany, and eliminate the existing curfew which 
precludes freight trains operating during passenger 
peak periods .

The SSFL Project has been severely impacted 
by delays caused by the extensive service 
relocation requirements and design delays 
which resulted in the partial suspension of the 
project in October 2009. Design and service 
relocation, other critical works such as station 
alterations and work requiring possession 
access are continuing . It is planned to have the 
SSFL completed in 2011/2012 .
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Performance

Overall, June 2010 Financial Year volumes were 1 .0% 
higher in comparison with the same 2009 period . For 
the quarter, June 2010 volumes were 8 .1% higher than 
the corresponding 2009 quarter reflecting stronger 
business and consumer confidence following the 
negative impact of the Global Financial Crisis .

Intermodal rail volumes remain well below • 
pre Global Financial Crisis [GFC] levels . There 
was moderate activity during 2009-2010 with 
Intermodal volumes 1 .5% below the GTK levels in 
2008/2009, however, it should be noted that the 
second half of 2009-2010 reflected a 6.2% increase 
over the second half of 2008/2009 . Volumes are 
anticipated to remain relatively flat in the short-
medium term .

Monthly Steel traffic volumes were inconsistent • 
during 2009-2010 . Steel production levels varied 
in accordance with restocking of supplies, [ie . 
following minimal H1 2009 production due to the 
GFC], and demand from the construction sector, 
particularly during H2 2009 . Volumes decreased 
by 5 .0% in 2009/2010 in comparison with 
2008/2009, however, the second half of 2009-2010 
reflected a 13.0% increase over the second half of 
2008/2009 .

Simon Ormsby
GM Commercial

Commercial 
Division
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Grain and Mineral volumes have been considerably • 
stronger in South Australia and Victoria due to 
favourable conditions, whilst New South Wales 
was impacted by lower harvest across southern 
and central NSW on account of below average 
rainfall and higher temperatures/frosts .

Passenger traffic remained reasonably stable during • 
2009/2010 . Railcorp services were consistent as 
passenger services continue to maintain schedule 
despite the economic conditions . However, 
tourism was impacted by a combination of 
discounting by competing transport modes and the 
stronger $A failing to entice International tourists 
to visit Australia and conversely, encouraging 
local tourists to consider holidaying abroad .

2009-2010 Coal volumes levels increased by 5 .9% • 
over 2008/2009 . Export Coal volumes for the June 
2010 quarter were 5 .8% above those recorded for the 
March 2010 quarter . The new NCIG coal handling 
facility began operating during April 2010 and the 
additional capacity contributed to the strong result .

Inland Rail Alignment Study

During the year ARTC completed the Melbourne-
Brisbane Inland Rail Alignment Study . Undertaken 

at the request of the Australian Government and 
announced in March 2008, the study was to determine 
the economic benefits and likely commercial success 
of a new standard gauge inland railway between 
Melbourne and Brisbane, together with development 
of its optimum alignment . ARTC commissioned 
two consultancies to carry out the work of the 
study: the Financial and Economic Consultant was 
PricewaterhouseCoopers with ACIL Tasman and 
SAHA, and the Lead Technical Consultant was 
Parsons Brinckerhoff with Aurecon and Halcrow .

The study developed an alignment with a route length 
of 1731 km, comprising 706 km of existing line, 426 
km of upgraded line and 599 km of new construction . 
The new route, via Parkes, Narrabri and Toowoomba, 
would be 170 km shorter, and offer a transit time 7 .5 
hours faster, than the existing Melbourne-Brisbane 
route via Sydney .

The estimated capital cost of the project is $4 .7 billion . 
The study found that from the viewpoint of a track 
operator the railway would not be financially viable 
on a standalone commercial basis . From the broader 
point of view of rail users and the wider community, 
the economic analysis suggested the railway would 
achieve a positive economic net benefit between 2030 
and 2035, or when tonnage demanding the railway is 
above about 25 million tonnes per annum . If demand 
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volumes grow more strongly than forecast, economic 
viability could be reached sooner .

The report of the study is on ARTC’s website in the 
Investment Strategies section .

Hunter Valley  
Coal Network Access Undertaking
In April 2009, ARTC lodged a new Hunter Valley Coal 
Network Access Undertaking with the ACCC for accep-
tance under Part IIIA of the Trade Practices Act (1974), 
to cover the Hunter Valley Coal Network from Newcas-
tle ports to Ulan and Gap . The lodgement followed an 
extensive period of consultation with coal producers, 
rail operators and other industry stakeholders, lasting 
nearly twelve months . The ACCC has since conducted 
extensive public consultation in relation to the new 
undertaking, with the release of an issues paper in mid-
2009, and a draft decision in February 2010 .

The Hunter Valley Coal Network Access Undertaking 
provides for the negotiation of long term take-or-pay 
contracts directly with coal producers, and enables 
producers to more directly influence the ongoing 

development of the network . The access undertaking 
and contracts will also provide ARTC and producers 
with greater certainty to invest in both the rail 
network as well as other parts of the coal supply 
chain, such as mines, the ports, and trains .

It is ARTC’s expectation that the Hunter Valley Coal 
Network Access Undertaking will be accepted by the 
ACCC in early 2011, at which time access contracts 
with coal producers can be finalised.

National Freight Strategy &  
National Port Strategy
Infrastructure Australia has been given a remit from 
Government to produce a National Ports Strategy 
and a National Freight Strategy to provide a strategic 
context for policy making .

ARTC has been participating in these two strategy 
development processes both directly and indirectly 
through the ARA and ALC .

ARTC has advocated that the Strategies should be 
principles based, and focus on desirable outcomes 
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and appropriate processes to achieve those 
outcomes . It has generally argued against the 
Strategies being prescriptive or promoting specific 
infrastructure solutions .

The key principles that ARTC has advocated should 
form the central theme of both Strategies:

Wherever possible, transport solutions should be • 
determined by the market .
Government should intervene only as required to • 
correct for market failures .
Correction mechanisms adopted by • 
Government should support rather than 
subvert market processes .
If Government is not able or willing to implement • 
the necessary reforms, it should take more direct 
action to achieve appropriate outcomes .

Road / Rail Pricing

ARTC has identified road reform, and in particular 
road pricing, as the key medium-term external 
environmental issue for the interstate rail business .

There has been a considerable amount of discussion 
and debate around the issue of road pricing over the 
past year . This has arisen as a result of the inclusion of 
road pricing as a COAG Reform Agenda item, and its 
consideration in the Henry Tax Review .

ARTC’s assessment is that the overwhelming 
majority of opinion appears to be supportive of road 
pricing reform . However, exactly what the reform 
encompasses and how to implement the reform 
remain uncertain .

The clearest support is for mass-distance-location 
based charging for heavy vehicles, with the main 
objection to this being concern at the cost and 
practicality of implementation . ARTC has repeatedly 
advocated mass-distance-location charging as the 
highest priority for road reform given its unambiguous 
economic benefits. The NTC is working on a strategy 
for implementation of mass-distance-location 
charging for heavy vehicles within the COAG Reform 
Agenda framework .

The level of support for these types of reforms 
among the business and Government communities 
is less clear . However, there does appear to be 
growing concern that urban congestion is becoming 
unmanageable, and awareness that the only practical 
solution is road pricing reform .

Coal handling
Kooragang Island, New South Wales
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2009/2010 saw further consolidation of 
arrangements in the Hunter Valley to 
maximise throughput to export coal .

A key plank of those changes was the formal 
incorporation of the Hunter Valley Coal Chain 
Coordinator (HVCCC) as an independent 
agency to provide advice; modelling and 
planning and coordination of the Hunter 
Valley coal chain . 

All coal companies exporting through the 
Port of Newcastle and the service providers 
(including ARTC) are members of the HVCCC . 

2009/2010 also saw the commencement of 
contractual alignment in the coal chain with 
the commencement of the “take or pay” 
contracts between coal producers and Port 
Waratah Coal Services (PWCS) .

In March 2010 the first shipments of coal 
commenced from the Newcastle Coal 
Infrastructure Group (NCIG) terminal on 
Kooragang Island . With initial capacity 
of some 33 million tonnes per annum and 
planned future capacity of 66 million tonnes 
the terminal is a significant milestone for the 
Hunter Valley .

Tim Ryan
GM Hunter Valley

Hunter Valley 
Division
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Performance during the year

Operations
Ongoing enhancements at PWCS in 2009 saw the 
export planned target rise to 375,000 tonnes per day, 
culminating in achieved annualised rates above 100 
million tonnes per annum for a number of months . 
Export tonnes exceeded 97 million tonnes for the year 
compared to 90 million tonnes the previous financial 
year and were running at an annualized rate close to 
11o million tonnes per annum by year end .

Asset Maintenance
Track quality remains stable and at satisfactory levels 
with the timber track between Dartbrook to The Gap 
showing significant improvement. There were 97 
coal train cancellations due to ARTC infrastructure 
faults, this is down from 125 in 2008 . This translates to 
750,000 tonnes of lost coal and represents 6% of total 
coal chain losses against planned movements .

Major Projects
Minimbah Bank 3rd Road overcame significant wet 
weather delays that resulted in the commissioning 
moving from March to May 2010. This is a significant 
project to the Coal Industry as it delivered promised 

capacity ahead of demand as part of the Federal 
Government Nation Building Economic Stimulus 
Package . Planning and design for the Minimbah 
to Maitland 3rd Road (a 30 kilometre triplication 
project) was undertaken during the year and 
awaits final approvals with initial construction 
expected to commence in August 2010 on target for 
commissioning in 2012 .

Other projects completed this year include; Braefield 
Loop and Newdell Junction on the Main Line plus 
Murrumbo and Baerami Loops on the Ulan Line .

Key future projects in development include; Port 
Holding Roads, Liverpool Range, Nundah Bank 
3rd Road, 6 loops on the Main Line in the Upper 
Hunter (Gunnedah Basin) and 6 loops on the Ulan 
Line including a solution to the Bylong Tunnel 
Headway constraint .

Access Undertaking
During the year ARTC continued to consult with the 
industry and other stakeholders as well as the ACCC 
on the undertaking it lodged with the ACCC in mid-
2009 . The undertaking embodies the principles of 
contractual alignment with other participants in the 
coal chain . Finalisation of the undertaking is expected 
in early 2011 .
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The North South corridor runs from Acacia Ridge in 
Queensland and it includes the Metropolitan Freight 
Network in Sydney and the Port Botany rail terminal .

This corridor is a key area for growth in market share 
on the East Coast and ARTC has continued to improve 
both transit time and reliability . 

Projects completed or underway in support of this 
strategy include:

Stage 1 works to remove rail bottlenecks at Port • 
Botany Rail Yard
Completion of loop upgrades and extensions • 
at Killawarra, Johns River Mindaribba, Kilbride, 
Kerewong and Loadstone on the North Coast
Construction and commissioning of new loops at • 
Kilmore and Tallarook in Victoria
Conversion of the broad gauge network between • 
Seymour and Wodonga in Victoria to provide 
200km of double track
Construction of a dual track rail network to bypass • 
Albury / Wodonga on the New South Wales / 
Victorian border .

In addition to the above specific projects, 
ARTC has continued its ongoing maintenance 
and works program to support superior 
operational performance .

Alex MacKenzie
GM North South

North South 
Division
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Both the North and South sections of the corridor 
were subject to major washaways during the year with 
the North Coast experiencing three separate one in 
one hundred year floods in the space of six months. 
Despite significant damage to the infrastructure, good 
contingency planning and an excellent response from 
local teams limited the impacts to generally no more 
than a 24 hour shutdown period .

A notable event in 2010 was the decommissioning 
of the last of the upper quadrant signals in New 
South Wales . These mechanical signals were in use 
throughout the 20th Century and their final removal 
marked the end of an era in railway signalling .

Border to Acacia Ridge Track Upgrade

In January of this year ARTC signed a 60 year lease 
with the Queensland Government for the 95km of track 
between the New South Wales border and Acacia Ridge 
to complete the interstate rail network between Brisbane 
and Perth . In conjunction with the lease process ARTC, 
under the auspices of its Transport Express Joint Venture, 
has carried out a major upgrade program to install 111,000 
new concrete sleepers . Of these 78,000 were dual gauge 
sleepers to allow for a narrow gauge link between the pro-
posed Bromelton industrial area in Southern Queensland 
and Brisbane . The program is on track to complete in June 
2010 and coupled with the previous introduction of Cen-
tralised Train Control, will make a major contribution to a 
reduction in transit time between Brisbane and Sydney .

Wodonga Rail Bypass

The main interstate line between Sydney and 
Melbourne crosses the New South Wales / Victorian 

border at Albury / Wodonga . Currently the track 
runs through the centre of Wodonga causing 
significant disruption to road traffic. As part of a 
jointly funded project by the Federal and Victorian 
State Governments, ARTC has constructed a dual 
track rail bypass which crosses the Murray River to 
the west of Wodonga .

Port Botany Rail Yard

In December 2008, ARTC commenced its lease of the 
Port Botany Rail Yard, as the first phase of the lease 
of the greater Port Botany Rail Line (Metropolitan 
Freight Network) to permit the commencement of the 
Stage 1 upgrade works .

These Stage 1 works targeting track bottlenecks at Port 
Botany Rail Yard are now well advanced with physical 
works expected to be complete by August 2010 . 

The Delivery Phase of Stage 1 is focussed on 
track and civil works and involves a major track 
reconfiguration and upgrade, including associated 
lighting and access roadways . 

The Development Phase of Stage 1 has also produced 
signal functional specifications and track and civil 
designs in preparation for Stage 2 projects and ARTC’s 
take up of the remaining Port Botany Rail Line lease .

The proposed Stage 2 project deliverables are 
signal Control Separation from RailCorp and full 
control from ARTC Network Control Centre at 
Junee, Enfield Staging Roads, Signal Control Port 
Botany and two kilometres of mainline duplication 
at Mascot achieved through the signalling of 
existing track sidings .
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ARTC’s market share of the long haul transport 
logistics market continues to be highest on the 
East West rail corridor with 80% market share .

Projects and maintenance undertaken have been 
designed to increase rail capacity and maintain 
efficiency and reliability on the links between 
Sydney, Perth, Adelaide and Melbourne .

Over the past 12 months the East West Corridor 
team has successfully completed two major track 
refurbishment projects . The Western Line Victoria 
track upgrade, installing 400,000 concrete 
sleepers and the Cootamundra to Parkes track 
upgrade installing 300,000 concrete sleepers . 
Both these projects were completed on time and 
within budget .

The East West Corridor in the last quarter of this 
year has seen the benefits of these major works 
with improved train operations, reduced track 
related delays and reduced maintenance costs .

In the recent Federal Budget, the Federal 
Government announced that it will invest $1 billion 
into Australian Rail Track Corporation (ARTC) . A 
significant portion of this funding will be directed 
toward delivering productivity benefits on the East 
West Corridor .

Angelo Demertzis
GM East West

East West 
Division
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Projects on the East West Corridor will include:

Resleepering of the main line interstate network • 
between Broken Hill and Parkes; rerailing of 
794km of track between Whyalla and Broken Hill 
and Parkes and Cootamundra; 
Construction of four new passing loops between • 
Gheringhap and Maroona; 
and the improvement in axle loads and speeds • 
of services in the Kalgoorlie to Koolyanobbing 
section, through a combination of additional loops 
and rerailing in heavier rail .

These productivity projects will compliment the 
strong performance of the East West Corridor team 
as it continues to safely deliver train operations and 
increased track capacity, which is detailed in the 
following projects:

Crossing Loops to Increase  
Track Capacity

Construction of eighteen 1800 metre crossing 
loops commenced during the year with eight of 
these completed this year . These loops are part of 
ARTC’s 1800 metre train length strategy that will 
enable our customers to operate longer and more 
productive trains .

Rail Upgrade at Geelong

Work has commenced on a project to improve the 
access to the Port of Geelong, track duplication 
between Geelong and Gheringhap, and a new 1800 
metre crossing loop at Elders . The objectives of this 
project are to continue ARTC’s strategy of providing 
rail links to key ports and to provide additional 
capacity for future growth on the Melbourne to 
Adelaide corridor .

Network Control Centre West

At the end of June the Network Controllers in 
Adelaide moved into a new purpose built control 
centre . This facility has been equipped with modern 
network management control and communications 
equipment which will allow for the future integration 
with the Advanced Train Management System 
(ATMS), train management flexibility and continuing 
safe train operations .



27

The CRN/Services Division has encountered and 
successfully managed a number of significant 
challenges during the year .

The ARTC Services Company is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Australian Rail Track 
Corporation . The company provides maintenance 
and construction services on signalling and 
control systems to ARTC predominantly in 
South Australia, up to and including Parkeston 
in Western Australia and up to and including 
Kanandah near Broken Hill in New South Wales .

Level Crossings

This year the ARTC Services Company apart from 
its normal services has also successfully delivered 
28 level crossing upgrades valued at $11 .6 million 
as part of Federal Government Nation Building 
Economic Stimulus Package . 

Additionally the team is also managing the 
signal design, construction and commissioning 
of 17 new crossing loops valued at $24 .8 million 
which are also part of the stimulus package . An 
excellent effort by the service company staff to 
meet specified time lines and with significant 
savings achieved .

Tony Frazer
GM CRN/Services

CRN/Services 
Division
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Track Maintenance

The ARTC Services Company also manages 
the provision of track geometry measuring, the 
management of the ultrasonic rail flaw detection 
contract as well as the management of the rail 
grinding contract . ARTC has entered into a long 
term contractual arrangement valued at $112 million 
for the provision of rail grinding throughout ARTC’s 
network . The new rail grinding contractor commenced 
operations in September 2009 and the initial 
mobilisation issues have been overcome and the 
benefits of the long term contractual arrangement are 
now being realised . 

The track geometry monitoring team provide these 
services through the AK Inspection Car which is 
a joint venture arrangement between ARTC and 
RailCorp of New South Wales . This team monitors 
63,104 kilometres of track throughout Australia and 
additionally provides a commercial service of 17,011 
kilometres to a number of private railways .

Rail Infrastructure Corporation

The CRN team provides asset management, 
infrastructure maintenance, project and construction 
management, property and network control services 
to the Rail Infrastructure Corporation (RIC) of New 
South Wales for the Country Regional Network (CRN) 
under an alliance contractual arrangement .

The program and services budget for the year totalled 
$188 million for the safe and efficient delivery of 
a diverse and geographically wide spread works 
program and provision of asset management and train 
control services .

It is pleasing to report that the program has been 
delivered with significant productivity savings to RIC 
which has resulted in a management fee of $14 million 
being attained for the Corporation . This record return 
is a credit to the individuals, teams, project delivery 
staff, property service, network control staff as well as 
the ancillary support staff who have put in significant 
efforts to achieve these excellent results .

These savings and efficiencies have resulted in 
RIC approving another $7 million for projects to be 
brought forward and we will deliver them this year .

Permanent Way Award

The New South Wales Section of the Permanent 
Way Institute judged the West Wyalong team as the 
best railway maintenance team in New South Wales . 
This award is highly prestigious and much sought 
after amongst the maintenance teams through both 
country and metropolitan New South Wales . The West 
Wyalong team were also successful in the previous 
year and have won the award several times . 

The West Wyalong and Dubbo Maintenance Teams 
have reached 1749 and 1812 loss time injury free 
days respectively . These two teams are the two top 
performing teams in relation to safety in the state . 
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The Communication and Control Systems Division 
is an amalgamation of Technology (Infrastructure 
& Systems), Communications, Signals and Control 
Systems areas . We form the foundation to support 
and transform the rail industry into the intelligent 
digital era . The Team consist of innovative, energetic 
and experienced people working to a common vision: 

To create the platform to sustain ARTC commercial and 
operational performance and to provide cost efficient 
business systems to support ARTC’s operations.

The Communications and Control Systems Division 
functions as a unified team. All members provide valu-
able knowledge and assistance across its defined areas. 

Technology & Infrastructure

Virtualisation technology has enabled the group to 
standardise, upgrade and provide a level of redundancy 
to ensure continuous operations for majority of 
systems . This has also provided a means to reduce 
dependencies on physical hardware and reduction of 
overall associated running costs and physical servers .

The NCCW Datacentre has been successfully 
delivered and will provide greater capacity in system 
availability, technical flexibility, and disaster recovery 

Mike van de Worp
GM Communications & Control Systems

Communications 
& Control Systems
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capabilities to ARTC’s operational and corporate 
divisions . The datacentre has been designed and built 
with the most advanced energy efficient technologies, 
providing minimal running costs and reduced carbon 
footprint from a traditional datacentre .

The group have successfully planned, delivered and 
supports all the Alliance work taking place from 
the standardised desktop environment to working 
closely with the Alliance IT Departments for seamless 
operation to minimise project impact .

Both the Records Management and GIS groups 
have become part of the group, to further enhance 
the associated systems and bring them in line with 
the processes and ensure system and data integrity 
for both systems . The eTrak system utilised for the 
corporate electronic document records management 
has been successfully deployed to the majority of 
the defined users. The eTrak system will ensure the 
corporate records are correctly stored electronically 
and also meet our regulatory compliance for record 
keeping across the different jurisdictions .

Technology & Systems

The group has provided a number of solutions 
that either support new business operations 

and requirements or enhance and streamline 
the business processes . The group also provides 
transactional and operational data for the business 
as well as numerous data interfaces to our customers 
and external parties .

National RAMS - The project successfully combined 
two older systems, ARAMS and NRAMS, into one 
unified billing and train monitoring solution; the 
National RAMS . The delivery of National RAMS 
standardised the billing and train operation 
processes across the ARTC rail network and 
simplified system support and maintenance as 
system changes need to apply only to one system 
instead of two . 

Asset Consolidation project was conducted to deliver 
a central system for the Asset Register . At present, the 
ARTC rail assets are generally recorded in three separate 
systems; 1) Ellipse – system used by ARTC in New South 
Wales, 2) SAP - system used by Transfield in SA and WA, 
3) Maximo – system used by Downer EDI in Victoria. 

The projects main objectives are to store all ARTC 
assets in Ellipse and make it the Asset Master for 
all contractors’ systems . This will allow ARTC to 
standardise their Asset Configuration Management 
processes and improve asset management monitoring 
and reporting across all Corridors .
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 HVAU (Hunter Valley Access Undertaking) -  
ARTC is introducing a new model for billing of the coal 
trains in Hunter Valley . The new model will see coal 
producers billed for train movements rather than the 
train operators. The invoices will have a fixed (Take or 
Pay) part, which will account for approximately 80% 
of the total, and a flexible, GTK portion based on the 
actual train weight and distance travelled .

Communications

The communications group has had a 
challenging but successful year while embracing 
technology change and maintaining ARTC’s 
existing communications infrastructure . The 
communications group has been actively working 
with Telstra in migrating Telstra Legacy services 
to new platforms as part of Telstra’s Migration 
project . To date 320 of 350 Telstra Legacy services 
have been migrated to alternate technology 
platforms and services . 

A successful coverage survey of the Telstra NextG™ 
network as a result of the NTCS project completing the 
Telstra NextG™ installations across the rail Corridors 
has allowed the closure of the UHF CountryNet radio 
network in the New South Wales ARTC and CRN rail 
Corridors (Hunter Valley excluded) . The Optus Satellite 
network will provide the communications (with NextG™ 
and WB radio providing the backup) until the new In-
Cabin Equipment (ICE units) has been deployed . 

Signals

The Signals Group plays a vital part in the day to day 
train operations . They are key members of the standards 
review and development team . As subject matter 
experts they assist in investigation of major incidents 
utilising the electronic data recorded . Maintenance and 
support for all field equipment to ensure safe and reliable 
operation of the control systems . Identify improvement 
strategies and solutions for control and signalling 
systems to address performance issues and maintenance 
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Nation Train Communications System

As part of an $85 million communications upgrade, 
ARTC signed an agreement with Telstra in April 
2007 that will see Telstra’s Next G™ network used 
to replace nine disparate communications systems 
across 10,000 km of the interstate rail network .

ARTC, in conjunction with the Australian Federal 
Government will fund the design and construction of 
78 new installations (62 regional base stations and 16 
sites providing for coverage in tunnels) . These new 
NextG™ sites together with Telstra’s existing sites 
will provide a single network for communications 
between locomotives, train control, track workers and 
wayside equipment across ARTC’s entire interstate 
rail network . This seamless coverage will be backed 
up by a secondary communications platform provided 
by the Iridium Satellite network .

Additionally this project is funding the supply of 700 
new communications In-Cabin Equipment (ICE) for 
train operators to install in their locomotives, which 
will operate across ARTC and adjacent controlled rail 
corridors, on the Telstra NextG™ network .

Development and testing of the locomotive ICE unit is 
progressing, and successful trials were conducted in 
the Hunter Valley with rail operators Pacific National 
and Queensland Rail during December 2009.

Advance Train Management System

Work continued this year on the 39 month, $90 
million Proof of Concept phase of the Advanced Train 
Management System; a communications based 
train management system, which will improve the 
capacity, safety and efficiency of ARTC’s interstate 
rail network . 

The Proof of Concept program commenced in July 
2008 and is being delivered via a contract with 
Lockheed Martin for the company (with support from 
Ansaldo-STS) to design, develop, construct, integrate 
and test an ATMS prototype system on 105 kilometres 
of track from Crystal Brook to Port Augusta in the 
north of South Australia . 

This year, work has focussed on Stage 1 of the 
program, which is delivering a number of identified 
‘base’ functionalities . 

Stage 2 will deliver more advanced functionalities and 
is expected to be completed in late 2011 .

Train Control Centre
Broadmeadow, New South Wales

problems to improve efficiency of maintenance, 
reliability of operations and reduce cost .

Control 

The major focus has been on East West CTC which is 
an outstanding achievement to deliver such a large 
system within a 12 month period . The updated East 
West CTC has transformed the legacy systems over 
to the common standard control system utilised 
through the other centres .

In January 2010 the Queensland Rail Standard Gauge 
take-up allowed for the conversion of Network 
Control from QR to be undertaken by ARTC at 
Broadmeadow CTC .

In conjunction with Communications, a number of 
legacy data lines have been removed in Western 
Victoria further reducing the exposure, risk and cost 
associated with the out-dated technology .
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Risk Management

ARTC is committed to a culture of risk management, hav-
ing developed risk identification and assessment mecha-
nisms throughout the company, ranging from strategic 
high-level approaches, to specific change management 
assessments, to daily worksite risk reviews . ARTC man-
ages and controls risk through risk management systems 
and processes, including application of ‘So Far As Is 
Reasonably Practicable’ principles where appropriate . 
Assurance around controls is provided through ARTC’s 
risk-based Audit and Assurance program, delivered by 
co-sourced internal audit team (ARTC partnered with 
Ernst and Young) and external auditors .

A significant project to improve our risk management 
process continues, including reviewing our systems 
against the new standard AS/NZS ISO 31000 .

The area of Risk Management is subject to ongoing 
review, both internally and also by recognised external 
specialist resource providers, which further ensures a 
robust and sustainable process is being applied . 

Rail Safety

The safety and efficiency of the rail network is a major 
consideration for the network owner / manager, for 
rail operators and the wider community . 

Simon Gray
GM Risk & Compliance

Risk & Compliance 
Division
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ARTC is committed to safety and maintains a 
continuous improvement approach to safety systems 
and processes . ARTC’s ongoing review of its Safety 
Management System is a key part of ensuring that it 
continues to meet the needs of the revitalisation of 
the Australian rail industry, and the requirements of 
all applicable rail safety legislation, so that:

ARTC retains the competence and capacity to • 
manage safety at all levels in its business;
safety and risk management are accepted as core • 
values in all business activities;
safety is communicated in a clear, concise and • 
consistent manner; 
the technology and equipment necessary to man-• 
age, monitor and support the system are in place; 
it is recognised that safety is a key responsibility • 
for both individuals and the Company, and
investment in training, technology and network • 
improvements is directed towards creating a safer, 
more sustainable business environment . 

Rail Safety Accreditation has been retained in all 
jurisdictions in which ARTC operates, and has been 
obtained in Queensland for the first time this year, 
as a result of the take-up of the section from the 
New South Wales border to Acacia Ridge during the 

year . ARTC collaborates actively with other sections 
of the industry on matters of mutual concern, and 
works consultatively with Regulators through the 
Rail Safety Regulators’ Consultative Forum .

ARTC has continued its active engagement 
with the National Transport Commission and 
rail policy and regulatory representatives from 
State Transport Departments in the uptake of 
the approved model rail safety legislation and 
regulations . Enactment of the model rail safety 
legislation by the States has continued, providing 
a framework for consistency in national rail safety 
regulation and more effective effort on the part of 
industry in terms of safety outcomes . The decision 
by COAG to move to a single national rail safety 
regulator is strongly supported by ARTC, and 
will further erode the significant barriers to entry 
to the rail market inherent in the existing State 
based system .

Occupational Health & Safety

ARTC’s Occupational Health & Safety Management 
System (OHSMS) sets out ARTC’s health & 
safety management arrangements in compliance 
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with the Occupational Health & Safety Act 1991 
(Commonwealth) . Health and safety hazard 
management is a key driver for all stakeholders, and 
OHS communication and consultation is embedded 
in the day to day operations of the business . In 
recognition of the national reform of OHS laws that will 
culminate in the adoption in all jurisdictions of model 
OHS laws in 2012, ARTC is undertaking a detailed 
review of its OHSMS and has engaged with Comcare on 
a Cooperative Assurance Pilot Project (CAPP) . 

ARTC continues to use the lost time injury frequency 
rate (LTIFR) and medically treated injury frequency 
rate (MTIFR) measures to monitor trends in 
workplace safety . A lost time injury is a work-related 
injury which causes an employee to miss a full 
day’s work or one full working shift . A medically 
treated injury is a work-related injury that results 
in treatment by a qualified medical practitioner, or 
treatment of any injury that could be considered 
as being one that would normally be treated by a 
medical practitioner . These injuries are normalised 
per million hours worked . 

Steel girder replacement
Wauchope, New South Wales

Workplace safety performance has continued to improve 
with ARTC’s LTIFR remaining under 4 .0 and MTIFR 
dropping from over 27 to under 18 over the year . The 
company places a high premium on health and safety, 
and while it has achieved good results in the reduction 
of the number of lost time injuries and medically 
treated injuries in its directly employed and contracted 
workforce, the death of an infrastructure worker in May 
2010 has been a reminder of the continual effort that 
is required to minimise risks in the workplace . ARTC 
is committed to learning from its experiences and to 
focus on seeking a safer workplace for all .
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Corporate 
Governance

Throughout 2009/2010 ARTC held regular monthly 
Board meetings (except January) along with regular 
meetings of the Board Committees . The committee 
structure includes the Audit & Compliance Committee, 
the People, Policy & Remuneration Committee, 
the Environment, Health & Safety Committee, the 
Committee of the Whole Board for Risk and the 
Committee of the Whole Board for Succession Planning . 

ARTC’s system of corporate governance reflects the 
eight principles enunciated in the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council ‘Principles of good corporate 
governance and best practice recommendations’: 

Lay solid foundations for management and • 
oversight – ARTC recognises the respective 
roles and responsibilities of the Board and 
Management through publication of formal 
delegations and a schedule of matters reserved 
to the Board . This enables the Board to provide 
strategic guidance for the company and effective 
oversight of Management, clarifies the respective 
roles and responsibilities of Board members and 
senior executives in order to facilitate Board and 
Management accountability to both the company 
and its shareholders, and ensures a balance 
of authority so that no single individual has 
unfettered powers . 

Structure the Board to add value•  –  
The Board has an effective composition, size 
and commitment to adequately discharge its 
responsibilities and duties, and possesses a 
balance of skills, experience and independence 
appropriate to the nature and extent of 
company operations . 

Promote ethical and responsible decision-• 
making – ARTC’s business affairs are conducted 
legally and ethically with strict observance 

of high standards of integrity and propriety . 
ARTC has a formal Code of Conduct which 
clearly states the high standards expected of 
Management and the Board .

Safeguard integrity in financial reporting•  – 
Independent verification is provided by internal 
and external audit under the scrutiny of the Audit 
and Compliance Committee of the Board . 

Make timely and balanced disclosure•  –  
ARTC is a wholly-owned Commonwealth company 
and complies with the governance requirements 
for Government Business Enterprises, including 
the development of an annual Corporate Plan, the 
publication of an annual Statement of Corporate 
Intent and regular Shareholder liaison, including 
formal quarterly meetings . 

Respect the rights of shareholders•  –  
ARTC recognises, upholds and facilitates the 
effective exercise of the rights of the single 
shareholder, the Commonwealth of Australia . 
In this regard, the company is subject to the 
Commonwealth Authorities and Companies 
legislation in addition to the Corporations Act . 

Recognise and manage risk•  –  
ARTC has established a sound system of risk 
management, recognising that every business 
decision has an element of uncertainty and carries 
a risk that can be managed through effective 
oversight and internal control . 

Remunerate fairly and responsibly•  –  
The Board, through the People, Policy and 
Remuneration Committee, ensures that the level 
and composition of remuneration is sufficient and 
reasonable and that its relationship to corporate 
and individual performance is defined. 

Gavin Carney
Company Secretary
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Board of 
Directors

John Robert Caldon 

MA (non executive Chairman) 

J Caldon joined the Board 
as non executive Chairman 
on 21 January 2010 . He has 
over 40 years experience in 
the accounting, finance and 
infrastructure industries having 
held positions including Partner 
with Price Waterhouse; Deputy 
Managing Director and Head of 
Corporate Finance at Macquarie 
Bank; Chairman of Rail Services 
Australia; and President of 
the Australian Council for 
Infrastructure Development. He 
also serves as Chairman of the 
People, Policy & Remuneration 
Committee; the Committee of 
the Whole Board for Risk; and the 
Committee of the Whole Board 
for Succession Planning and as 
a member of the ARTC Audit & 
Compliance Committee .

Lucio Di Bartolomeo

B.E. (civil), M Eng Sc, FAIM, FCILTA, 
MIEA  (non executive Director)

L Di Bartolomeo joined the 
Board in June 2007. Mr Di 
Bartolomeo is a professional 
Director and currently Chairman 
of Macquarie Generation and 
Parklands Foundation Ltd 
and non executive Director 
of Downer EDI, Reliance Rail 
and Australian Super Pty Ltd 
and is National Vice President 
of Australian Industry Group . 
Prior to this he was Managing 
Director of ADI Limited and 
FreightCorp. Mr Di Bartolomeo 
has worked for many years in 
the rail industry both locally and 
overseas . He is also Chairman of 
the ARTC Environment, Health 
& Safety Committee .

David Howarth

BSc (Eng), MS, FICE, FIEAust, 
MAIPM, FPWI, MAICD, CPEng 
(Rtd) (non executive Director)

D Howarth joined the Board in 
September 2007 . Before this 
appointment, Mr Howarth had 
an extensive career in Australia 
and overseas in the design 
and project management of 
infrastructure projects, primarily 
in the transportation sector . He 
was a Director of Sinclair Knight 
Merz for 26 years and Chairman 
of the Board for four years . He 
was awarded the Professional 
Engineer of the Year Award by 
the Institution of Engineers, 
Australia in 1991 . He serves as a 
member of the ARTC Audit and 
Compliance Committee and the 
ARTC Environment Health & 
Safety Committee .

The Board of Directors of the Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd (ARTC) 
has pleasure in submitting the Directors' report in respect of the year 
ended 30 June 2010 .

The following persons were Directors of ARTC during the whole of the 
financial year and up to the date of this report unless otherwise stated:
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David William Marchant

D W Marchant was appointed 
Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director in June 1998. 
Prior to this appointment, Mr 
Marchant held a range of positions 
in utility groups and government 
agencies . Mr Marchant is also 
a member of the ARTC Audit 
and Compliance, the ARTC 
Environment Health and Safety 
and the ARTC People, Policy and 
Remuneration Committees .

Graham Douglas Walters

AM, FCA (non executive Director)

G D Walters joined the Board 
in 2004 . Mr Walters is a 
professional Director and 
Chairman of Master Super, non 
executive Chairman of Westpac's 
SA Executive Committee and 
Director of Bio Innovation SA 
and Gerard Lighting Group Ltd 
amongst other organisations 
and is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants . 
Mr Walters also serves as the 
Chairman of the ARTC Audit & 
Compliance Committee .

Gillian Brown

LLB (Hons) GradDipAppFin&Invest 
(non executive Director)

G Brown was appointed to 
the Board for a term of 3 years 
commencing on 30 June 2010 . 
Ms Brown is a lawyer with 25 
years experience in finance, 
infrastructure, energy and 
resources and debt capital 
markets transactions .  Ms Brown 
is former chairman of Minter 
Ellison Lawyers and is a board 
member of Queensland Treasury 
Corporation and DBCT Holdings 
Pty Ltd . Ms Brown serves as a 
member of the ARTC Audit and 
Compliance and Environment, 
Health and Safety Committees .
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Board of 
Directors

Barry Murphy

B.Sc.App., B.E. (Chem), CSci, MBA, 
PgDip.Env.Stud., PgDip. En.Stud., 
FIChemE, FAICD (non executive 
Chairman to 20 January 2010)

B K Murphy joined ARTC in 1999 
as non executive Chairman and 
continued in that role until 20 Jan-
uary 2010 . Mr Murphy also served 
as Chairman of the People, Policy 
& Remuneration Committee; the 
Committee of the Whole Board for 
Risk; the Committee of the Whole 
Board for Succession Planning and 
as a member of the ARTC Audit & 
Compliance Committee .

Gavin Carney 

BA, LLB, LLM  (Company Secretary)

G Carney joined the Group in 
2007 and is currently Senior Legal 
Counsel and Company Secretary .

Andrea Joy Powys Staines

B. Econs, MBA, GAICD (non 
executive Director to 3 May 2010) 

A J P Staines was a member of 
the Board from December 2006 
to May 2010 . Ms Staines is also 
a Non Executive Director of 
Gladstone Ports Corporation, 
publicly listed Early Learning 
Services and the Brisbane Royal 
Children’s Hospital Foundation . 
Ms Staines has a background 
in commercial and financial 
management within the 
aviation industry, having been 
co founder and Chief Executive 
Officer of Australian Airlines, 
a Qantas subsidiary flying to 
Asia . Ms Staines also served as a 
member of the ARTC Audit and 
Compliance Committee .

Owen Main  
Johnstone-Donnet
BA (Hons) (non executive Director to 
29 June 2010)

O M Johnstone-Donnet was 
a member of the Board  from 
June 2007 to June 2010 . Mr 
Johnstone-Donnet has had 
experience as advisor to State 
and Federal Ministers, and 
held senior positions in the 
NSW State Rail Authority . 
He also served as a member 
of the ARTC People, Policy & 
Remuneration Committee .

continued
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Meetings of 
Directors
The number of meetings of the company’s Board of Directors and of each Board Committee held during the year 
ended 30 June 2010, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:

Full Meetings  
of Directors 

Audit &  
Compliance 
Committee 

Environment, 
Health & Safety 
Committee 

People, Policy & 
Remuneration 
Committee 

A B A B A B A B
J R Caldon 10 11 3 3 - - 2 2

L Di Bartolomeo 17 17 - - 4 4 - -

D Howarth 17 17 1 1 4 4 - -

O M Johnstone-Donnet 14 16 - - - - 2 3

D W Marchant 16 17 5 6 4 4 4 4

G D Walters 17 17 6 6 - - - -

B K Murphy 6 6 3 3 - - 2 2

A J P Staines 8 9 5 5 - - 1 1

G Brown 1 1 - - - - - -

A = Number of 
meetings attended

B = Number of 
meetings held during 
the time the Director 
held office or was 
a member of the 
committee during 
the year

*  denotes chairman

Members acting on the Committees of the Board during the year were:

Audit & Compliance

G D Walters * 
J R Caldon (appointed to the Committee January 2010)  
D W Marchant 
D Howarth (appointed to the Committee May 2010) 
B K Murphy (served on the Committee from November 2008 to January 2010) 
A J P Staines (served on the Committee from November 2008 to April 2010)

Environment Health & Safety

L Di Bartolomeo * 
D Howarth  
D W Marchant 

People, Policy & Remuneration

J R Caldon (appointed to the Committee January 2010 ) *
D W Marchant
O M Johnstone-Donnet (served on the Committee from November 2008 to June 2010)
B K Murphy (served on the Committee to January 2010)
A J P Staines (served on the Committee from February 2007 to April 2010)
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Dividends

There was no dividend provided for or paid in the 
current year by the Group (the Group comprises 
Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd and ARTC 
Services Company Pty Ltd) . (2009: $nil) . 

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group during the year 
were the provision of rail access and infrastructure 
management of rail networks, either owned or leased 
by ARTC . 

Review of operations

The review of operations of the Group is contained in 
the Chief Executive Officer's Report.

Significant changes in the state of affairs

During July 2009, the Group received an equity 
injection of $678m and a further $88 .9m in 
May 2010 in relation to the Nation Building 
Package (announced 13 December 2008 by the 
Commonwealth Government) .

As previously advised in June 2009 the ATO issued 
income tax assessments to ARTC in relation to 
Grants totalling $820m received in 2004-2006 . ARTC 
objected to these assessments and the matter was 
the subject of a confidential settlement during the 
year . No penalties or interest were applied to ARTC 
by the ATO and appropriate adjustments to prior 
year expense accruals were processed during the 
financial year.

There were no other significant changes in the  
state of affairs .

Significant events after the balance date

Equity injection

The Group received an equity injection of $558 .2m 
from the Commonwealth Government’s as per 
its announcement in the 2010 Federal Budget to 
invest further equity in ARTC to build on existing 
investment strategies and deliver productivity 
benefits to the overall economy through investment 
in transport infrastructure .

Likely developments and expected 
results of operations
Likely developments and the expected results of 
operations of the ARTC are contained in the Chief 
Executive Officer's Report.

Environmental regulation

ARTC holds licences from both the Environmental 
Protection Authority of South Australia and the 
Environmental Protection Authority of NSW . In 
South Australia, the licence is held under Part 6 of the 
Environmental Protection Act, 1993 to undertake the 
activity of a "Railway System" . The licence is due to 
expire on 31 January 2011 and an application for renewal 
will be lodged at that time . In New South Wales, the 
licence is held under Section 55 of the Protection of the 
Environment Operations Act 1997 to undertake "Railway 
Activities" . The licence expires on 5 September 2010 and an 
application for renewal will be lodged prior to expiration . 
To date, ARTC has complied with the requirements of both 
licence agreements . Other than in South Australia and 
New South Wales, ARTC is not required to be licensed .

Rounding of amounts

Amounts in the financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless 
specifically stated otherwise under the option available 
to the Group under ASIC Class Order 98/0100 . The 
Group is an entity to which the Class Order applies .

Indemnification of Officers

During the reporting period, ARTC had in place 
insurance cover in respect of liabilities arising from the 
performance of the Directors and Officers of the Group.

The disclosure of the premium paid under section 
300(8) (b) of the Corporations Act is not shown as the 
insurance contract between ARTC and the insurer 
prohibits ARTC from disclosing such information .

No known liability has arisen under the insurance 
contract as at the date of this report .

Non Audit Services

Non Audit services can be found in note 32 of the 
Financial Statements .
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Independence of auditors

The Directors received the following declaration from the Group's auditor:

Auditors Independence Declaration to the Directors of Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd.

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 
2010, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct.

Australian National Audit Office

John McCullough
Audit Principal
Delegate of the Auditor-General
Signed in Canberra on the 25th of August 2010

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors

J R Caldon
Director
Signed in Canberra on the 25th of August 2010

D W Marchant
Director
Signed in Canberra on the 25th of August 2010
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Consolidated Income Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

Notes $’000 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations 4 567,578 523,298

Other income from continuing operations 4 37,234 41,225

Total Revenue and Other Income from continuing operations 4 604,812 564,523

Employee benefits expense 5 (119,490) (118,406)
Human resources & training (4,226) (6,710)
Minor equipment/Service agreements (4,482) (5,054)
Property & related costs (6,472) (6,261)
Train control communications (9,041) (8,665)
Communications expenses (3,856) (3,963)
Motor vehicle expenses (6,902) (7,289)
Legal fees (2,435) (2,989)
Insurance & accreditation (7,976) (8,157)
Travel & accommodation (4,472) (5,629)
Operating lease expense (4,550) (4,670)
Project and development expenses (3,337) (4,020)
Infrastructure maintenance (239,370) (249,053)
Incident costs (14,798) (14,901)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5 (80,008) (68,409)
Recognition of impairment loss 1(o),(i),15(c) (55,739) (227,141)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets (17,911) - 
Other expenses (5,125) (5,847)

(590,190) (747,164)Expenses, excluding net finance costs

Results from operating activities 14,622 (182,641)

5 78,402 (82,141)Net Finance Income/(Costs)

93,024 (264,782)Profit/(Loss) before income tax

Income tax (expense)/benefit 6 1,241 (279,139)

94,265 (543,921)Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations

Profit/ (Loss) is attributable to:

Equity holders of Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd 94,265 (543,921)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Profit/(loss) for the year 94,265 (543,921)

Other comprehensive income
Reversal of revaluation of East West Corridor infrastructure assets - (100,667)
Cash flow hedge charged to equity 13 (17)
Net changes in fair value of cashflow hedges transferred to profit and loss 17 - 
Actuarial (losses)/gains on retirement benefit obligation (1,958) (5,670)
Income tax relating to reversal of East West revaluation - 15,954
Income tax effect on Defined Benefit Fund 588 1,268
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax (1,340) (89,132)

Total comprehensive income for the year 92,925 (633,053)

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Equity holders of Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd 92,925 (633,053)

92,925 (633,053)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



46

Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2010

Consolidated

2010 2009
ASSETS Notes $’000 $’000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 44,259 121,014
Trade and other receivables 8 88,137 82,397
Inventories 9 29,694 48,944
Alliance Partner Deposits 10 15,766 - 
Other current assets 11 6,031 3,098
Derivative financial instruments 12 19 - 
Current tax receivables 13 18,555 - 
Total current assets 202,461 255,453

Non-current assets
Alliance partner deposits 14 900 14,492
Property, plant and equipment 15 2,874,224 1,930,410
Deferred tax assets 16 69,132 146,988
Intangible assets 17 4,310 2,966
Total non-current assets 2,948,566 2,094,856

Total assets 3,151,027 2,350,309

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 161,052 209,790
Interest bearing liabilities 19 60,000 - 
Provisions 20 49,250 62,472
Current tax liabilities 21 - 166,840
Deferred income- government grants 22 6,990 4,395
Finance lease liabilities 23 195 182
Derivative financial instruments 12 - 24
Total current liabilities 277,487 443,703

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income - government grants 24 330,128 195,603
Finance lease liabilities 25 834 1,029
Deferred tax liabilities 26 34,469 64,403
Provisions 27 4,090 3,334
Defined benefit plans 28 6,186 4,229
Total non-current liabilities 375,707 268,598

Total liabilities 653,194 712,301

Net assets 2,497,833 1,638,008

EQUITY
Contributed equity 29 1,424,026 657,126
Reserves 30(a) 737,844 747,353
Retained earnings 30(b) 335,963 233,529
Total equity 2,497,833 1,638,008

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Attributable to owners of Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd
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Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Balance at  

1 July 2008 235,126 832,083 - - 832,083 781,852 1,849,061
Total loss for 

the year as 
reported in the 
2009 financial 
statements - - - - - (543,921) (543,921)
Reversal of 

Revaluation - 
East-West 30 - (100,667) - - (100,667) - (100,667)

Cash flow hedges 30 - - (17) - (17) - (17)
Actuarial gains/

(losses) on 
Defined Benefit 
Fund obligations 30 - - - - - (5,670) (5,670)

Income tax effect 
of Defined 
Benefit Fund 
obligations 30 - - - - - 1,268 1,268

Income tax 
relating to 
reversal of East-
West revaluation 30 - 15,954 - - 15,954 - 15,954

Total comprehensive 
income for the 
year - (84,713) (17) - (84,730) (548,323) (633,053)

Contributions of 
equity by owners, 
net of transaction 
costs 29 422,000 - - - - - 422,000

422,000 - - - - - 422,000
Balance at  

30 June 2009 657,126 747,370 (17) - 747,353 233,529 1,638,008

The above consolidated statement of changes of equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Attributable to members of Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd
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Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Balance at  

1 July 2009 657,126 747,370 (17) - 747,353 233,529 1,638,008
Total comprehensive 

income for the 
year - - - - - 94,265 94,265
Cash flow hedges 

to equity 30 - - 30 - 30 - 30
Actuarial gains/

(losses) on 
Defined Benefit 
Fund obligations 30 - - - - - (1,958) (1,958)

Income tax effect 
of Defined 
Benefit Fund 
obligations 30 - - - - - 588 588

Asset revaluation 
reserve 30 - (9,539) - - (9,539) 9,539 - 

Total comprehensive 
income for the 
year - (9,539) 30 - (9,509) 102,434 92,925

Contributions of 
equity by owners, 
net of transaction 
costs 29 766,900 - - - - - 766,900

Balance at  
30 June 2010 1,424,026 737,831 13 - 737,844 335,963 2,497,833

The above consolidated statement of changes of equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

Notes $’000 $’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 565,748 531,931
Tripartite agreement income 11,487 13,322
Inland rail study income 5,503 7,289
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (441,131) (415,387)
Tax paid (110,030) (93,805)
Interest paid (79) (25,699)

31,498 17,651
Interest received 10,831 9,982
Net cash inflow from operating activities 39 42,329 27,633

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment 15 (1,101,279) (746,084)
Payments for intangibles computer software (2,847) (372)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,311 99
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (1,098,815) (746,357)

Cash flows from financing activities
Government Grant - other 155,605 133,404
Proceeds from equity funding 766,900 422,000
Receipts from borrowings 60,000 - 
Finance lease payments (182) - 
Payments for transaction costs in relation to borrowings (2,592) - 
Net cash inflow from financing activities 979,731 555,404

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (76,755) (163,320)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 121,014 284,334
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 44,259 121,014

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial report are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial 
report includes financial statements for the consolidated 
entity consisting of ARTC and its subsidiaries .

ARTC (the parent) is a company limited by shares 
incorporated in Australia . The ultimate controlling 
entity of the Group is the Commonwealth Government .

The financial report of ARTC for the year ended 30 
June 2010 was authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the Directors on 25 August 2010.

(a) Basis of preparation of financial 
report for the year ended 30 June 2010
This general purpose financial report has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board . 

On 29 June 2010 the Corporations Amendment (Corpo-
rate Reporting Reform) Act 2010 (“CRRA”) amended the 
ACT so that entities reporting under Chapter 2M that 
present consolidated financial statement are no longer 
required to present parent entity financial statements. 
This change applies for financial reports for the year 
ended 30 June 2010 . The Group has decided to adopt this 
amendment and report only at the consolidated level .

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars 
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($'000) unless otherwise stated under the 
option available to the Company under ASIC Class 
order 98/0100 . The Company is an entity to which the 
class order applies .

The financial report is prepared on a historical cost 
basis except for property, plant and equipment and 
the defined benefit fund plan liability which are 
measured at fair value .

Compliance with IFRS

The financial report complies with Australian 
Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board and International 
Financial Report Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board . 

The new and amended Australian Accounting 
Standards and AASB Interpretations that have been 
adopted by the Group and that have an impact on the 
financial statements or performance of the Group, are 
listed below with their impact on the Group:  

AASB 7 Financial Instruments Disclosure

The standard has been amended to include additional 
disclosures about fair value measurement and 
liquidity risk . Financial instruments measured at fair 
value are required to be disclosed by the source of 
the inputs in determining the fair using a three level 
hierarchy . This information must be given by class of 
financial instrument. Disclosures also require a full 
reconciliation of Level 3 instruments and transfers 
between Level 1 and Level 2 .

The amendments also clarify the requirements 
for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to 
derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity 
management . The disclosures are presented in note 2 .

AASB 8 Operating Segments

AASB 8 is a disclosure statement that will no longer 
require the Group to present segment reporting . The 
Group has applied this standard from 1 July 2009 .

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements

The revised standard separates owner and non owner 
changes in equity . The statement of changes in equity 
includes only details of transactions with owners, 
with non owner changes in equity presented in a 
reconciliation of each component of equity and included 
in the new statement of comprehensive income . The 
statement of comprehensive income presents all items 
of recognised income and expense, either in one simple 
statement, or in two linked statements . The Group has 
elected to present two statements .

AASB 123 Borrowing Costs 

The revised AASB 123 has removed the option 
to expense all borrowing costs and requires the 
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capitalisation of all borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset .  

 The Group has applied the revised AASB 123 from 1 July 
2009 and capitalise its borrowing costs relating to all 
qualifying assets for which the commencement date 
for capitalisation is on or after this date .  The impact on 
the financial statements in the first year of adoption is a 
reduction in interest expense of $493,000 . 

AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, 
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate effective 

The amendments delete the reference to the “cost 
method” making the distinction between pre and 
post acquisition profits no longer relevant. The Group 
has applied the revised rules prospectively from 1 
July 2009 .  After that date, all dividends received 
from investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled 
entities or associates are recognised as revenue, even 
if they are paid out of pre acquisition profits, but the 
investments may need to be tested for impairment as 
a result of the dividend payment .  

The adoption of this amendment did not have any 
impact on the financial position or the performance of 
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2010 .

AASB 2009-4 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements Project 

The amendments to some standards result in 
accounting changes for presentation, recognition or 
measurement purposes, while some amendments 
that relate to terminology and editorial changes are 
expected to have no or minimal affect on accounting . 
Also due primarily to changes that will result from 
IFRIC 16 more hedging relationships will become 
eligible for hedge accounting as a result of the 
amendment . It is anticipated that the amendments 
will have minimal impact on the Group .

AASB 2009-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards operative for period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 that end on or 
after 30 June 2009

In June 2009, the AASB issued AASB 2009-6 and AASB 
2009-7 .  Those Standards made numerous editorial 
amendments to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, including amendments 
to reflect changes made to the text of International 

Financial Reporting Standards by the International 
Accounting Standards Board .  AASB 2009-6 is 
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009 that end on or after 30 June 2009 .  
AASB 2009-7 is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 .  There are no changes 
to any of the accounting policies of the Group necessary 
as a result of these amendments .

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates .  It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies . The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

(b) New accounting standards  
and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards have been 
published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2010 
reporting periods . The Group’s assessment of the 
impact of these new standards and interpretations is 
set out below .  

(i) AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2010)

In May 2009, the AASB issued a number of 
improvements to existing Australian Accounting 
Standards .  The Group will apply the revised 
standards from 1 July 2010 .  The Group does not expect 
any significant adjustments will be necessary as a 
result of applying the revised rules .

(ii) AASB 2009 8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Group Cash Settled Share 
based Payment Transactions [AASB2] (effective 
from 1 January 2010)

The amendments made by the AASB to AASB 2 
confirm that an entity receiving goods or services 
in a group share based payment arrangement must 
recognise an expense for those goods or services 
regardless of which entity in the group settles the 
transaction or whether the transaction is settled in 
shares or cash .  They also clarify how the group share 
based payment arrangement should be measured, 
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that is, whether it is measured as an equity or a 
cash settled transaction .  The Group will apply 
these amendments retrospectively for the financial 
reporting period commencing on 1 July 2010 .  However, 
as the amendments only affect the accounting in 
the individual entities there will be no impact on the 
financial statements of the Group.

(iii) Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures 
and AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)

In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures.  It is effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 
and must be applied retrospectively .  The amendment 
removes the requirement for government related 
entities to disclose details of all transactions with the 
government and other government related entities 
and clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related 
party .  The Group will apply the amended standard 
from 1 July 2011 .  It is not expected to have any effect 
on the Group's related party disclosures.

(iv) AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial 
Liabilities with Equity Instruments and AASB 
2009-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Interpretation 19  
(effective 1 July 2010)

AASB Interpretation 19 clarifies the accounting when 
an entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the 
result that the liability is extinguished by the debtor 
issuing its own equity instruments to the creditor 
(debt for equity swap) .  It requires a gain or loss to be 
recognised in profit or loss which is measured as the 
difference between the carrying value of the financial 
liability and the fair value of the equity instruments 
issued .  The group will apply the interpretation from 
1 July 2010 .  It is not expected to have any impact 
on the Group's financial statements since it is only 
retrospectively applied from the beginning of the 
earliest period presented 1 July 2009 and the group 
has not entered into any debt for equity swaps since 
that date . 

(v) AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Classification of Rights 
Issues [AASB 132] (effective 1 February 2010)

In October 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation which 
addresses the accounting for rights issues that are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional 

currency of the issuer .  Provided certain conditions are 
met, such rights issues are now classified as equity 
regardless of the currency in which the exercise price 
is denominated .  Previously, these issues had to be 
accounted for as derivative liabilities .  The amendment 
must be applied retrospectively in accordance with 
AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors .  The Group will apply the 
amended standard from 1 July 2010 .  As the Group has 
not made any such rights issues, the amendment will 
not have any effect on the Group's financial statements.

(vi) AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 
2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9  
(effective from 1 January 2013)

AASB 9 addresses the classification and measurement 
of financials assets and is likely to affect the group's 
accounting for its financial assets.  The standard is 
not applicable until 1 January 2013 and the group is 
yet to assess its full impact .  Financial Instruments 
addresses the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and is likely to affect the group’s 
accounting for its financial assets.  The standard is not 
applicable until 1 January 2013 but is available for early 
adoption .  The group is yet to assess its full impact .  

(vii) AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian 
Interpretation - Prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement (effective from 1 January 2011)

In December 2009, the AASB made an amendment to 
Interpretation 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction .  
The amendment removes an unintended consequence 
of the interpretation related to voluntary prepayments 
when there is a minimum funding requirement in regard 
to the entity's defined benefit scheme.  It permits entities 
to recognise an asset for a prepayment of contributions 
made to cover minimum funding requirements .  The 
Group does not make any such prepayments .  The 
amendment is therefore not expected to have any impact 
on the Group's financial statements.  The Group intends 
to apply the amendment from 1 July 2011 .

(viii) AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project and AASB 2010 4 Further 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
(effective from 1 July 2010/1 January 2011)

In June 2010, the AASB made a number of 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards as 



54

a result of the IASB's annual improvements project.  
The Group will apply the amendments from 1 July 
2010 .  It does not expect that any adjustments will be 
necessary as the result of applying the revised rules . 

(ix) AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian 
Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
(effective from 1 July 2013)

On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially introduced a 
revised differential reporting framework in Australia .  
Under this framework, a two tier differential 
reporting regime applies to all entities that prepare 
general purpose financial statements.  Australian 
Rail Track Corporation Ltd is eligible to adopt the 
new Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements.  The Group has yet to 
assess the full impact .

(c) Parent entity financial information

The financial information for the parent entity, 
Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd, disclosed in 
note 40 has been prepared on the same basis as the 
consolidated financial statement.

(d) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statement incorporate the 
assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by the 
Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd (''company'' 
or ''parent entity'') as at 30 June 2010 and the 
results of the controlled entities for the year then 
ended .  Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd and 
its controlled entities are referred to in this financial 
report as the “consolidated entity” or “the Group” . 
The effects of all transactions between entities in the 
consolidated entity are eliminated in full .

Where control of an entity is obtained during 
a financial year, its results are included in the 
Consolidated Income Statement from the date on 
which control commences . Where control of an entity 
ceases during a financial year, its results are included 
for that part of the year during which control existed . 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost 
in the individual financial statements of Australian 
Rail Track Corporation Ltd .

(e) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable to the extent it is 
probable the economic benefit will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured . Amounts 
disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 
allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf 
of third parties .

(i) Access revenue

Access revenue recorded in the Consolidated 
Income Statement comprises amounts received 
and receivable by the consolidated entity granting 
operators access to the rail network during the year .

(ii) Interest Income

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues 
using the effective interest method . This is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(iii) Country Regional Network revenue

Country Regional Network revenue recorded in the 
Consolidated Income Statement comprises amounts 
received and receivable by the consolidated entity for 
the recovery of expenditure on the Country Regional 
Network as per the CRN management agreement with 
the NSW Government .

(f) Recoveries and expenses associated 
with rail access related incidents
Income attributable to insurance or other recoveries 
arising from rail access related incidents is only 
recognised where a contractual agreement is in place 
and receipt of amounts outstanding is virtually certain . 
Costs of rectification are recognised when incurred.

Where the Group has suffered damage to its rail 
network due to other parties, the recourse of 
commercial negotiation and, if not successful, legal 
proceedings are initiated, as appropriate .

Contingent liabilities and assets are reviewed 
throughout the year and finalised at Balance Sheet 
date for inclusion in the financial statements. 
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Inclusion of liabilities or assets relating to rail access 
related incidents occurs where the Group can reliably 
measure costs or recoveries .

(g) Government grants

Grants received from the government by the Group 
fall into two distinct categories and the treatment for 
each is described below:  

 (i) Where the Grants have attached conditions and/
or are project specific, they are recognised at their fair 
value and initially credited to Deferred Income upon 
receipt, then recognised in the Consolidated Income 
Statement over the period necessary to match them 
with the costs that they are intended to compensate .

Where those grants relate to expenditure that is to 
be capitalised, they are credited to the Consolidated 
Income Statement on a straight line basis over 
the expected lives of the related assets from the 
date of commissioning . Grants that are related to 
expenditures that are not to be capitalised, are 
credited to the Consolidated Income Statement as the 
relevant expense is incurred; or 

(ii) Where the Grants are special government grants 
that are one off type grants, have no attached 
conditions and are not related to a specific project, 
they are recognised at fair value immediately as 
revenue when the grant monies are received .

(h) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and 
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities 
based on the current period's taxable income. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date .

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at the balance sheet date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities (DTLs) are recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences except when 
the DTL arises from the initial recognition of goodwill 
or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and that, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss; or when the taxable temporary 
difference is associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, 
and the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future .

Deferred income tax assets (DTAs) are recognised for 
all deductible temporary differences, carry forward 
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except 
when the DTA relating to the deductible temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss; or when the deductible temporary difference 
is associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates or interests in joint ventures, in which case 
a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that the temporary difference 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised .

Division 58 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 
(‘Division 58’), has entitled the consolidated entity 
to value certain assets, for taxation purposes, using 
pre existing audited book values or the notional 
written down values of the assets as appropriate . This 
effectively means the tax depreciable value of these 
rail infrastructure and related assets significantly 
exceeds the carrying value. Accordingly, Division 58 
results in significant deductible temporary differences 
and potential DTAs. The carrying amount of DTAs is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred income tax asset to be utilised .

Unrecognised DTAs are reassessed at each balance 
sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the DTA to be recovered.

DTAs and DTLs are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. DTAs 
and DTLs are offset only if a legally enforceable right 
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exists to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the DTAs and DTLs relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority .

Tax consolidation legislation

Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd and its wholly 
owned Australian controlled entities implemented the 
tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003 .

The head entity, Australian Rail Track Corporation 
Ltd and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated 
group continue to account for their own current 
and deferred tax amounts . The Group has applied 
the group allocation approach in determining the 
appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred 
taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated 
group . In addition to its own current and deferred tax 
amounts, Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd also 
recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and 
the DTAs arising from unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group .

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding 
agreements with the tax consolidated entities are 
recognised as amounts receivable from or payable to 
other entities in the Group .

Any difference between the amounts assumed and 
amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding 
agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or dis-
tribution from) wholly owned tax consolidated entities .

(i) Leases

Group as a lessee (note 15).  

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the 
Group, as lessee has substantially all the risks and 
benefits incident to ownership of the leased item 
are classified as finance leases.  Finance leases are 
capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value 
of the leased property or, if lower, the present value 
of the minimum lease payments .  The corresponding 
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included 
in other short term and long term payables .  Each 
lease payment is allocated between the liability 
and finance cost.  The finance cost is charged to the 
Consolidated Income Statement over the lease period 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability for each period .  
The property, plant and equipment acquired under 
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the 
asset’s useful life and the lease term .

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group 
as lessee are classified as operating leases (note 34).  
Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight line 
basis over the period of the lease .

Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group retains substantially all 
the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased 
asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised as an expense over the lease term on the 
same basis as rental income .

( j) Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable .  An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount .  
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use .  For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets (cash generating units) .  Non 
financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at each 
reporting date .

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Trade and other receivables

All trade receivables are recorded at the amount due 
based on a pricing regime agreed with train operators, 
generally have 7 30 day terms and are recognised and 
carried at original invoice amount less an allowance 
for any uncollectible amounts . 
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An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there 
is objective evidence (such as, potential default or 
delinquency by a debtor) that the Group will not be 
able to collect the debts . Bad debts are written off 
when identified.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realis-
able value. Cost is assigned on a first in first out basis.

(n) Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the 
end of each reporting period .  The accounting for 
subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether 
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, 
and if so, the nature of the item being hedged .  The 
Group designates certain derivatives as either:

hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or • 
liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges)

hedges of the cash flows of recognised assets • 
and liabilities and highly probable forecast 
transactions (cash flow hedges).

The Group documents at the inception of the hedging 
transaction the relationship between hedging instruments 
and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions .  
The Group also documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether 
the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have 
been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative financial 
instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed 
in note 12 .  Movements in the hedging reserve in 
shareholders' equity are shown in note 30.  The full 
fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non 
current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of 
the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is classified 
as a current asset or liability when the remaining 
maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months .  

(i) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 

hedges is recognised in equity in the hedging reserve .  
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income 
Statement within other income or other expense .

Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the 
Consolidated Income Statement in the periods when 
the hedged item affects profit or loss (for instance when 
the delivery of the goods hedged takes place) . The 
gain or loss relating to the effective portion of forward 
foreign exchange contracts hedging the imported goods 
is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 
within ‘infrastructure maintenance'.  However, when 
the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the 
recognition of a non financial asset (for example, 
inventory or fixed assets) the gains and losses previously 
deferred in equity are transferred from equity and 
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the 
asset .  The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised 
in profit or loss as infrastructure maintenance in the case 
of goods relating to maintenance, or as depreciation in 
the case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or 
terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or 
loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity 
and is recognised when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the Consolidated Income 
Statement .  When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that 
was reported in equity is immediately transferred to 
the Consolidated Income Statement .

(o) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is shown at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses recognised after the date of the 
revaluation, based on periodic, but at least triennial 
valuations . Any accumulated depreciation at the 
date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset .  All 
other property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation, and 
any accumulated impairment losses .  Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items . 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will 
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flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably .  All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets 
is calculated using the straight line method to allocate 
their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual 
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Maximum Economic Useful Life *

Infrastructure assets 
Ballast   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 60 years
Bridges  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 40 years
Culverts  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 100 years
Rail   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 110 years
Sleepers  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 70 years
Signals & Communications   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 30 years
Turnouts .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .15 years
Tunnels  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 50 years

Non Infrastructure assets 
Buildings   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 50 years
IT & Other equipment  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4 years
Motor vehicles   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5 years
Other equipment  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 40 years

* Depending on the age and location of particular assets, 
the economic life may vary. 

(i)  Impairment    

The carrying values of plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with 
the recoverable amount being estimated when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired .

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use . In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generating unit to which the 
asset belongs, unless the asset's value in use can be 
estimated to be close to its fair value .

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an 
asset or cash generating unit exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount . The asset or cash generating unit 
is then written down to its recoverable amount .

Impairment is assessed at each reporting date . 
Impairment is primarily recorded in the Consolidated 
Income Statement . The exception, is where a credit 
balance to previous periods' revaluation increments 
exist in the Asset Revaluation Reserve, then the 
impairment loss is debited to the asset revaluation 
reserve to the extent that the asset had previously 
been revalued . At 30 June 2009, impairment of 
$100 .7m was taken against the previously revalued 
East-West cash generating unit .

At 30 June 2010 the Group recognised an impairment 
loss of $55 .7m on the North-South Corridor (refer also 
note 15) . 

(ii) Revaluations

The Group’s infrastructure assets were revalued as 
at 30 June 2008 . Whilst the June 2005 revaluation 
was only applied to South Australian and Western 
Australian owned assets, the June 2008 revaluation 
applies to all leased and owned infrastructure assets 
across the network . These assets were revalued 
using a discounted cash flow approach to provide an 
estimate of the fair value of infrastructure assets as 
there is no similar market quoted assets . Revaluation 
of assets is only applied to infrastructure assets on the 
basis that non infrastructure such as motor vehicles, 
information technology and other non infrastructure 
assets are transferable within the Group and have a 
short life and a ready market . The written down value 
of these assets is in line with their fair value .

The cash flow forecasts relate only to the revenues 
and expenses incurred from the continuing use of 
existing assets, and specifically do not include future 
improvements or enhancements to the respective 
assets . The valuation was determined in conjunction 
with external advisors and thereafter approved by 
the Board .

Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset 
revaluation reserve included in the equity section 
of the Balance Sheet, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrement of the same asset 
previously recognised in the Consolidated Income 
Statement, in which case the increase is recognised in 
the Consolidated Income Statement (net of tax) .

 The Group has elected that the deemed cost of assets 
on hand at 30 June 2005 is the revalued amount of 
those assets . Infrastructure assets included in plant 
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& equipment and leasehold improvements were 
revalued at 30 June 2008 .

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation 
date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the 
revalued amount of the asset .

Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing proceeds with the carrying 
amount . These are included in the 
Consolidated Income Statement .

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation 
reserve relating to a particular asset being sold is 
transferred to retained earnings .

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is 
specifically identified it is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no further future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal .

(iii) Leasehold improvements

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold 
properties is amortised over the expected lease term 
or the estimated useful life of the improvement to the 
Group, whichever is the shorter . 

(p) Capital work in progress  
and capitalisation
Work in progress comprises expenditure on 
incomplete capital works . Expenditure on the 
acquisition of new infrastructure assets is capitalised 
when these new assets increase the net present value 
of future cash flows.

Infrastructure assets in the course of construction are 
classified as capital work in progress. Capital works in 
progress are recorded at cost, and are not depreciated 
until they have been completed and the assets are 
ready for economic use .

(q) Intangible assets

Computer software

Computer software has a finite useful life and is 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation . 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight line 
method to allocate the cost of computer software over 
its estimated useful life of two years .

(r) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid and are measured at 
amortised cost . The amounts are unsecured and are 
usually paid within 30 days of recognition .

Due to their short term nature they are not discounted.

(s) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred .  Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost .  Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in the Consolidated Income State-
ment over the period of the borrowings using the effec-
tive interest method .  Fees paid on the establishment of 
loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the 
loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of 
the facility will be drawn down . To the extent there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility 
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepay-
ment for liquidity services and amortised over the period 
of the facility to which it relates . 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting date .

(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset (i .e . an 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time 
to get ready for its intended use or sale) are capitalised 
as part of the cost of that asset . All other borrowing 
costs are expensed in the period they occur . Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity 
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds .

(u) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations 
are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount has been 
reliably estimated . Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses .
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Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class 
of obligations as a whole .  A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect 
to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be small .

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the reporting date . 

(v) Employee benefits

(i) Short term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in respect of employees' services up to 
the reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled .

(ii) Other long term employee benefit obligations

The liability for long service leave and associated on 
costs is accumulated from the date of commencement . 
They are measured at the amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled and discounted to 
determine their present value . Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels with an 
allowance for expected future increases .

(w) Major periodic maintenance

Maintenance of infrastructure assets is classified as 
major periodic maintenance if it is part of a systematic 
planned program of works, occurs on a cyclical basis 
and is significant in monetary values. Major periodic 
maintenance may include significant corrective 
works, component replacement programs, and 
similar activities and these costs are expensed in the 
consolidated entity's accounts.

(x) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised 
net of the amount of associated GST, unless the 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority .  In this case it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense .

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of 
the amount of GST receivable or payable .  The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included with other 
receivables or payables in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet .

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority .

(y) Rail infrastructure assets

The rail infrastructure assets vested in the Group at 
1 July 1998 covered all interstate mainline track and 
associated land, trackside and related assets under 
Commonwealth jurisdiction, and include rail, sleepers, 
ballast, designated crossing loops, turnouts, signals 
and communications equipment, bridges, culverts, 
tunnels and specified rolling stock.

(z) Defined Benefit Fund

ARTC is a member of the following superannuation 
schemes: State Authorities Superannuation 
Scheme (SASS), State Authorities Non Contributory 
Superannuation Scheme (SANCS) and the State 
Superannuation Scheme (SSS) .

The schemes are all defined benefit schemes at 
least a component of the final benefit is derived 
from a multiple of the member's salary and years of 
membership . All schemes are closed to new members .

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
are recognised in the period in which they occur, in 
other comprehensive income .

The defined benefit asset or liability recognised in the 
Balance Sheet represents the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation, adjusted for unrecognised 
past service cost, net of the fair value of the plan 
assets . Any asset resulting from this calculation 
is limited to past service cost, plus the present 
value of available refunds and reductions in future 
contributions to the plan .
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State Authorities Superannuation Scheme(SASS)  

SASS is a split benefit scheme, which means it 
is made up of an accumulation style contributor 
financed benefit and a defined benefit style employer 
finance benefit.

Employees can elect to contribute between 1% and 9% 
of their salary to SASS and can vary their contribution 
rate each year . Generally, each percentage of 
salary that a member contributes each year buys 
the member one benefit point which is used in the 
calculation of the employer financed benefit.

State Authorities Non  Contributory 
Superannuation Scheme (SANCS)

SANCS is a productivity type superannuation benefit 
accrued by SASS members in addition to their 
contributory scheme benefits. Calculated at 3% of 
final average salary or final salary, depending on the 
mode of exit, for each year of service from 1 April 1988 . 
It is fully employer financed.

State Superannuation Scheme (SSS)

SSS is a defined benefit scheme subsidised by the em-
ployer. Contributions to the defined contribution fund 
are recognised as an expense as they become payable .

(aa) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds .

(ab) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Both the functional and the presentation currency of 
ARTC and its subsidiaries is Australian dollars ($) .

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions . Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at year 
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except when they are 
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying 
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges 
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a 
foreign operation .
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Note 2
Financial risk management

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise 
receivables, payables, cash and short term deposits . 
These activities expose the Group to interest rate risk, 
credit risk, foreign exchange risk and liquidity risk .

Financial risk management is performed by the finance 
division ensuring compliance with policies and proce-
dures approved by the Board of Directors. The finance 
division identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks 
in close co operation with the Group’s operating units . 

The main risks arising from the Group's financial 
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and 

liquidity risk . Methods used in managing risk 
include monitoring levels of exposure to interest 
rate risk and assessment of market forecasts for 
interest rate movements; monitoring and managing 
credit risk against investments using the Treasury 
Policy and Cash Management Procedure; and 
managing liquidity risk through forecasting systems 
to monitor cash flow requirements, including 
managing the Group’s receivables and payables 
using aged analysis and maintaining customer and 
supplier relationships .

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 44,259 121,014
Trade and other receivables 88,137 82,397
Derivative financial instruments 19 - 

132,415 203,411
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 161,052 209,790
Other financial liabilities 1,029 1,211
Derivative financial instruments - 24

162,081 211,025

(a)  Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial 
transactions and recognised financial assets and 
financial liabilities are denominated in a currency that is 
not the entity's functional currency.  The risk is measured 
using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.

Forward contracts, transacted with the finance 
division, are used to manage foreign exchange risk .  
The finance division is responsible for managing 
exposures in each foreign currency by using external 
forward currency contracts .

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the 
end of the reporting period, expressed in Australian 
dollar, was as follows:

June June
2010 2009
USD USD

$’000 $’000
Forward exchange contracts

19 24 - buy foreign currency (cash flow hedges)
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Group sensitivity

Based on the financial instruments held at 30 
June 2010, had the Australian dollar weakened/ 
strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all 
other variables held constant, the Group's other 
comprehensive income would have been $ 25k higher 
/ $27k (lower) arising from foreign forward exchange 
contracts designated as cash flow hedges.  

 (ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, primarily, 
arises from cash and cash equivalents with variable 
interest rates .

The Group’s policy is to invest its available cash reserves 
with due regard to the timing and magnitude of cash flow 
requirements.  The finance division manages liquidity 
on a dynamic basis within the framework of the Group’s 
Treasury Policy where, typically, cash reserves are in-
vested in held to maturity investments, managed fund 
investments, term deposits and short term commercial 
papers with terms varying from 30 to 90 days .  As at the 
reporting date, cash reserves are being held as cash . 

The Group has also previously entered into held to 
maturity investments and managed fund investment . 

As at the reporting date, the Group had the following 
variable rate investments :

June 2010 June 2009

Consolidated

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance
% $’000 % $’000

Cash at bank 3.40% 43,213 4.50% 35,057
Deposits at call 2.70% 1,046 5.70% 85,957
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 44,259 121,014

(iii) Summarised sensitivity analysis The following table summarises the sensitivity of the 
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities to 
interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk .

Consolidated Interest rate risk Foreign exchange risk
-0.5% 0.5% -10% 10%

June 2010 Profit Equity Profit Equity Profit Equity Profit Equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (155) (155) 155 155 - - - - 
Derivatives - cash flow hedges - - - - - 25 - (27)
Financial liabilities
Borrowings - - - - - - - - 
Total increase/ (decrease) (155) (155) 155 155 - 25 - (27)

Consolidated Interest rate risk Foreign exchange risk
-0.5% 0.5% -10% 10%

June 2009 Profit Equity Profit Equity Profit Equity Profit Equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (424) (424) 424 424 - - - - 
Derivatives - cash flow hedges - - - - - (33) - 25
Total increase/ (decrease) (424) (424) 424 424 - (33) - 25
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(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis .  Credit risk 
arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits 
with banks and financial institutions, as well as trade 
and other receivables. The Group's exposure to credit 
risk arises from potential default of the counter party, 
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments . Exposure at balance 
date is addressed in each applicable note . 

The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to 
offset its credit exposure .

The Group has a Treasury Policy as approved by the 
Board that manages the level of risk in relation to cash 
investments with banks and third parties through 
the commercial paper market . The policy provides a 
number of criteria to manage and spread the level of 
risk such as, investing in third parties with a minimum 
rating of A2, 50% of investments must be rated A1 
and above and no more than $50m can be invested in 
commercial papers with any one third party . 

The Group trades only with recognised, credit worthy 
third parties, and as such collateral is not requested 

nor is it the Group's policy to securitise its trade and 
other receivables .

It is the Group's policy that all customers enter 
into access agreements meeting the terms and 
conditions as set out in the agreement before 
entering the Group's rail network and receiving any 
trade credit facilities .

The Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant, 
although the Group has a significant concentration 
of credit risk associated with its major customer 
providing a high proportion of access revenue .

The receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis and constant dialogue is maintained with major 
customers . Outstanding queries and administrative 
delays are followed up promptly . Conditions for 
customers accessing the East West rail network, 
allow for interest to be charged on late payments and 
security can be taken on default of payment . Typically, 
for the remaining rail network, the contract allows 
the raising of formal disputes on late payments, with 
a favourable outcome resulting in interest being 
charged as well as the ability to seek upfront security, 
where required .

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Floating rate
- Expiring within one year (bank overdraft, business card and revolving lease facility) 20,000 20,000

The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and the extension of such facilities beyond the expiry date is 
at the discretion of the bank .

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies 
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and 
the ability to close out market positions .

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and 
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities. Group Treasury maintains flexibility 
in its investments by spreading its investments and 
investing in instruments that are tradeable in highly 
liquid markets . 

Financing arrangements 

During July 2009, the Group received an equity injection 
of $678m and a further $88 .9m in May 2010 in relation 
to the Nation Building Package (announced 13 December 
2008 by the Commonwealth Government) . On 18 January 
2010 ARTC executed a 3 year Syndicated Debt Facility 
agreement with a consortium of major Australian Banks 
totalling $550m. The funds were first utilised against this 
facility in March 2010 .  Subsequent to balance date a 
further equity injection of $578m was received in July 
2010 year to further strengthen the Balance Sheet .

The Group had access to the following overdraft 
facilities at the reporting date:
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Maturities of financial assets based on contractual maturities

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date .  The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

Contractual maturities of  
financial liabilities

Less than  
6 months

6 - 12 
months

Between 1 
and 5 years

Over  
5 years Total

Group - at 30 June 2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Cash & cash equivalents 44,259 - - - 44,259
Trade & other receivables 88,137 - - - 88,137
Other financial assets 19 - - - 19
Total financial assets 132,415 - - - 132,415

Financial liabilities
Trade & other payables 161,052 - - - 161,052
Other financial liabilities 98 97 834 - 1,029
Total financial liabilities 161,150 97 834 - 162,081

Less than  
6 months

6 - 12 
months

Between 2 
and 5 years

Over  
5 years Total

Group - at 30 June 2009 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Cash & cash equivalents 121,014 - - - 121,014
Trade & other receivables 82,397 - - - 82,397
Total financial assets 203,411 - - - 203,411

Financial liabilities
Trade & other payables 209,790 - - - 209,790
Other financial liabilities 115 91 945 84 1,235
Total financial liabilities 209,905 91 945 84 211,025

(d) Fair value measurements

The fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities are estimated for recognition, measurement 
and disclosure purposes .

The methods for estimating fair value are outlined in 
the relevant notes to the financial statements.

As of 1 July 2009, Australian Rail Track Corporation 
Ltd has adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures which requires disclosure of 
fair value measurements by level of the following fair 
value measurement hierarchy: 

a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

b) inputs other than quoted prices included within 
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from 
prices) (level 2),and

c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3)

The following table presents the Group’s assets and 
liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 
June 2010 . 

Comparative information has not been provided 
as permitted by the transitional provisions of the 
new rules .
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Group - as at 30 June 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Liabilities
Derivatives used for hedging - 305 - 305
Total liabilities - 305 - 305

The fair value of financial instruments traded 
in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives, and trading and available for sale 
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the 
end of the reporting period .  The quoted market 
price used for financial assets held by the Group 
is the current bid price .  These instruments are 
included in level 1 . 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is deter-
mined using forward exchange market rates at the 
end of the reporting period .  These instruments are 
included in level 2 and comprise debt investments and 
derivative financial instruments.  In the circumstances 
where a valuation technique for these instruments is 
based on significant unobservable inputs, such instru-
ments are included in level 3 .
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Note 3
Significant accounting estimates and judgements

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, 
management continually makes judgements, 
estimates and assumptions including expectations 
concerning the future .  Although reasonable based 
on the current information available to management, 
the actual results will by definition, seldom equal the 
accounting estimates .  The judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that are considered significant 
in preparation of these financial statements are 
discussed below .

(i) Defined benefit plans

Various actuarial assumptions are required when 
determining the Group's defined benefit obligations. 
These assumptions and the related carrying amounts 
are discussed in note 28 .

(ii) Timing of project completion

The Group is undertaking an extensive investment 
program in the coming years with the continued 
delivery which is reliant on the availability of 
requisite material, project resources and applicable 
regulatory approvals .

(iii) Impairment

In order to comply with the relevant accounting 
standards, ARTC undertook impairment testing of 
the Group's infrastructure assets, which resulted in 
ARTC taking up an impairment loss of $55 .7m against 
the carrying value of those assets as they could not be 
supported by the forecast net cash flows to be derived 
in relation to those assets . 

(iv) Deferred tax recognition

The recognition of the deferred tax asset of $69 .8m 
is considered appropriate following an assessment 
of the overall forecast profit and taxation position of 
the Group over the next 5 years, including reversal 

of existing temporary differences . The deferred tax 
liability of $34 .5m comprises the difference between 
the tax base and carrying value relating to various 
assets and liabilities . 

(v) Incident recognition

The provision for incidents of $18 .1m recognises the 
Group’s estimated liability with respect to costs 
associated with damage caused by incidents such as 
derailments, including the potential for third party 
and/or insurance recoveries .

(vi) Operating lease commitments -  
Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property 
leases on property assets owned by the Group .

The Group has determined that it retains all the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 
properties and has thus classified the leases as 
operating leases .

(vii) Tripartite agreement income recognition

Pursuant to a Tripartite Agreement (between the 
Commonwealth of Australia, the State of NSW 
and ARTC) in connection with the take up of the 
NSW Lease in 2004, ARTC is entitled to funding 
contributions from the state of NSW  which have 
offset in part, maintenance costs incurred by ARTC 
under the NSW Lease . 

(viii) Inland Rail Study Income

The Australian Government funded Inland Rail 
Study to determine the economic benefits and likely 
commercial success of a new standard gauge inland 
railway between Melbourne and Brisbane, along with 
the potential optimum alignment, was completed 
during the year .
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Note 4
Revenue

Consolidated
June June

From continuing operations 2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Sales Revenue
Access revenue 380,647 333,348
CRN Revenue 176,100 179,968

Interest Revenue 10,831 9,982
Total Revenue 567,578 523,298

Other Income
Insurance recovery 2,466 5,070
Govt grants - other 5,511 2,301
Other revenue 10,014 13,243
Tripartite agreement income 11,487 13,322
Inland rail study income 5,503 7,289
Joint project income 2,253 - 

Total Other income 37,234 41,225

Total Revenue and Other Income 604,812 564,523

Note 5
Expenses

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Depreciation

Buildings 1,523 581
Plant and equipment 76,982 66,690

Total depreciation 78,505 67,271

Amortisation
Computer software 1,503 1,138

Total amortisation 1,503 1,138

Total depreciation and amortisation 80,008 68,409

Wages and Salaries 117,172 114,468
Workers compensation 1,355 2,907
Contributions to defined contribution plans 963 1,031

Total Employees benefit expense 119,490 118,406

Finance costs comprised:

Interest remitted by/(payable) to ATO applicable to grants related  
income tax assessments 81,073 (81,073)

Financing costs - Syndicated Debt Facility (2,592) (977)
Finance lease interest (79) (91)
Net Finance Income/(Costs) 78,402 (82,141)
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(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax  
expense/(benefit) to prima facie tax payable
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense 93,024 (264,782)
Tax at the Group’s Statutory Tax Rate of 30% 27,907 (79,435)
Adjustments in respect of current income tax:

Non deductible expenses
Adjustment of current income tax from previous year 17,762 21,519
Adjustment due to grants related income tax assessments and settlement (67,500) 227,197

Other assessable income 42 465
Trade Debtors - 1,077
Prepayments 9 21
Provisions 793 6
Depreciation & Impairment 46,369 88,664
Other 230 553
Deferred grant revenue taxable in advance 42,311 39,331

Deductible expenses
Depreciation (48,128) (37,099)
Loss on disposals (8,947) (9,021)
Investment Allowance (34,890) - 
R&D (4,079) (600)
Other assessable income (302) (1,157)

Interest expense not deductible (24,321) - 
Other (422) (1,974)

Current year tax loss 3,427 - 
Income tax expense (49,739) 249,547

Movement attributable to temporary differences
Tax losses decrease - - 
Decrease in deferred tax assets related to Property, plant and equipment 48,497 29,817

48,497 29,817

(Decrease) in deferred tax liabilities related to Property plant and equipment - (225)
Tax expense deferred tax total 48,497 29,592
Total income tax (benefit)/expense (1,241) 279,139

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

(a) Income tax expense/(benefit)
$’000 $’000

Current income tax charge - 831
Adjustment of current income tax from previous year 17,762 21,519
Adjustment of current income tax prior year amendments (67,500) 227,197
Deferred income tax expense relating to movement in temporary differences 48,497 29,592

(1,241) 279,139
Deferred income tax (revenue)/expense included in income  

tax expense/(benefit) comprises:
Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets (note 16) 48,497 29,817
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (note 26) - (225)

48,497 29,592

Note 6
Income tax expense/ (benefit)
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(d) Tax assets

At 30 June 2010, the Group has unrecognised temporary 
differences in relation to deferred tax assets of $348 .5m 
(2009: $242m) associated with the Group's ability 
to claim tax deprecation on NSW lease assets as a 
result of the Group being able to use Division 58 of the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and also due to the 
impairment of the North South assets .

(e) Tax consolidation legislation

Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd and its 
wholly owned Australian controlled entities have 
implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 
1 July 2003 . The accounting policy in relation to this 
legislation is set out in note 1(h) .

Note 7
Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Cash at bank and in hand note (b) 43,213 35,057
Deposits at call note (c) 1,046 85,957

44,259 121,014

(a) Interest rate  
risk exposure
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is discussed 
in note 2 .  

(b) Cash at bank and  
in hand
Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating 
rates based on daily bank deposit rates . 

Refer to note 2 for rates earned .

(c) Deposits at call

The “deposits at call” at balance date reflects funds 
available to the Group that have been placed on deposit 
with major Australian banking institutions and across a 
spread of short term commercial papers in accordance 
with Board approved Treasury Policy . Refer to note 2 for 
information regarding interest rate and credit risk .

(d) Fair value

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents 
equals the fair value .

(c) Amounts charged or credited directly to equity Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Deferred income tax related to items charged directly to equity (refer to note 30(b))

Net loss on revaluation of infrastructure assets - (15,954)
Net loss on Defined Benefit Fund (588) (1,268)
Net gain on FX hedge 13 (7)
Total (575) (17,229)

Deferred income tax charge included in equity comprises:
Increase/(decrease) in deferred liabilities - (15,954)
(Increase)/decrease in deferred assets (575) (1,275)
Total (575) (17,229)
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Note 8
Current assets - Trade and other receivables

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Net trade receivables
Trade receivables note (a) 47,495 43,697
Other receivables note (b) 40,642 38,700

88,137 82,397

(a) Allowance for impairment loss

As at 30 June 2010 there was no requirement for 
the allowance of any impairment in trade and 
other receivables of the Group (2009 - nil) as it 

was assessed that all receivables are expected to 
be recovered . 

Movements in the provision for doubtful debts 
receivable are considered immaterial .

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

0-30 days 40,528 38,026
31-60 days 3,309 3,849
61-90 days 367 97
> 90 days 3,291 1,725

47,495 43,697

(b) Other receivables

These amounts generally arise from transactions 
outside the usual operating activities of the Group .  
Interest may be charged at commercial rates where 
the terms of repayment exceed six months .  Collateral 
is not normally obtained .   

Other receivables include an accrual for the year to 
date under recovery of Constrained Network coal 
revenue as a result of the actual tonnage throughput 
being below the budgeted volumes on which the 
prices are set . Constrained Network coal revenue is 
a product of a regulatory return mechanism which 
includes a recovery of maintenance activity and a rate 
of return in relation to capital improvements .

Other receivables past due but not considered impaired 
are: Group $3.8m (2009: $5.3m).  Direct contact is 
being maintained with the relevant debtor and the 
Group is satisfied that payment will be received in full. 

(c) Foreign exchange and  
interest rate risk
Information about the Group's exposure to foreign 
currency risk and interest rate risk in relation to trade 
and other receivables is provided in note 2 .

(d) Fair value and credit risk

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, 
their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their 
fair value .

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables 
mentioned above .  Collateral is not held as security, nor 
is it the Group's policy to transfer (on sell) receivables 
to special purpose vehicles . Refer to note 2 for more in-
formation on the risk management policy of the Group 
and the credit quality of the entity's trade receivables.

The ageing of trade receivables is as follows:
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Note 9
Current assets - Inventories

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Inventory - Raw Materials
- at cost 29,694 48,944

29,694 48,944

Note 10
Current assets - Alliance Partner Deposits

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Alliance partner deposits 15,766 - 

Note 11
Current assets - Other current assets

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Prepayments - other 5,585 2,714
Other current assets 446 384

6,031 3,098

Inventory expense

Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2010 amounted to $44 .2m (2009:$20 .6m) .  
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(a) Instruments used by the Group

The Group is party to derivative financial instruments 
in the normal course of business in order to hedge 
exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates in 
accordance with the Group's Treasury policies. (refer 
to note 2) .

(i) Forward exchange contracts - cash flow hedges

The rail grinding process in NSW uses grinding stones 
purchased from the United States .  In order to protect 
against exchange rate movements, the Group has 
entered into forward exchange contracts to purchase 
US dollars .  

These contracts are hedging for purchase orders made 
by the Group for the latest set of material required for 
the period .  The contracts are timed to mature when 
payments for the shipments of grinding stones are 
scheduled to be received .

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge 
is recognised directly in equity.  When the cash flows 
occur, the Group adjusts the initial measurement of 

the component recognised in the Consolidated Income 
Statement by the related amount deferred in equity .

Group

During the year ended 30 June 2010 there was a reclas-
sification of cash flow hedge from equity to Statement 
of Comprehensive Income of $17k . There was no hedge 
ineffectiveness in the current or prior year .

(b) Risk exposures

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of 
counterparties to meet their obligations under the 
respective contracts at maturity .  This arises on 
derivative financial instruments with unrealised 
gains .  At reporting date $305k is payable (Australian 
dollar equivalents) for the Group from forward foreign 
exchange contracts (2009 - $442k) .

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risk, 
foreign exchange and interest rate risk is provided in 
note 2 .  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end 
of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each 
class of derivative financial assets mentioned above.

Note 12
Derivative financial instruments

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Current assets
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedge 19 - 

Current liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedge - 24
Total 19 24
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Note 13
Current assets - Current tax receivables

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Excess of tax paid for current period 18,555 - 

Note 14
Non-current assets - Alliance partner deposits

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Alliance partner deposits 900 14,492
900 14,492
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Note 15
Non-current assets - Property, plant and equipment
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$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
At 1 July 2008
Cost or fair value 366,462 22 12,490 6,675 24,655 6,217 1,545 418,066
- Valuation - - - - 473,466 706,706 - 1,180,172
Accumulated 

depreciation - - (1,576) (407) (11,972) (4,674) (105) (18,734)
Net book amount 366,462 22 10,914 6,268 486,149 708,249 1,440 1,579,504

Year ended  
30 June 2009

Opening net book 
amount 366,462 22 10,914 6,268 486,149 708,249 1,440 1,579,504

Additions into asset 
register from capital 
work in progress - 9 87 685 49,885 410,420 - 461,086

Additions into capital 
work in progress 746,084 - - - - - - 746,084

Impairment charge 
recognised in 
Consolidated 
Income Statement (227,141) - - - - - - (227,141)

Depreciation charge - - (332) (249) (30,993) (35,593) (104) (67,271)
Transfers out of capital 

work in progress (461,086) - - - - - - (461,086)
Sale of asset - - - - (99) - - (99)
Revaluation of assets - - - - (49,608) (51,059) - (100,667)
Closing net book 

amount 424,319 31 10,669 6,704 455,334 1,032,017 1,336 1,930,410

At 30 June 2009
Cost or fair value 424,319 31 12,578 7,359 66,818 411,616 1,545 924,266
Valuation - - - - 396,947 648,359 - 1,045,306

Accumulated 
depreciation - - (1,909) (655) (8,431) (27,958) (209) (39,162)

Net book amount 424,319 31 10,669 6,704 455,334 1,032,017 1,336 1,930,410
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$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening net book 

amount as at 30 
June 2009 (includes 
revaluation) 424,319 31 10,669 6,704 455,334 1,032,017 1,336 1,930,410

Reclassify assets from 
plant and equipment 
to leasehold 
improvements - - - - (12,093) 12,093 - - 

Additions into asset 
register from capital 
work in progress - 5,810 271 972 42,613 592,385 - 642,051

Borrowing cost 
capitalised 493 - - - - - - 493

Additions into capital 
work in progress 1,100,785 - - - - - - 1,100,785

Impairment charge 
recognised in 
Consolidated 
Income Statement (55,739) - - - - - - (55,739)

Depreciation charge - - (341) (1,182) (28,401) (48,479) (102) (78,505)
Transfers out of capital 

work in progress (642,049) - - - - - - (642,049)
Written down value of 

assets disposed - - - - (19) (23,203) - (23,222)
Closing net book 

amount 827,809 5,841 10,599 6,494 457,434 1,564,813 1,234 2,874,224

At 30 June 2010
Cost or fair value 827,809 5,841 12,849 8,330 116,112 1,005,734 1,545 1,978,220
Valuation / note (b) - - - - 384,886 633,695 - 1,018,581
Accumulated 

depreciation - - (2,250) (1,836) (43,564) (74,616) (311) (122,577)
Net book amount 827,809 5,841 10,599 6,494 457,434 1,564,813 1,234 2,874,224
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(a) Leased assets

Plant and equipment includes the following amounts where the Group is a lessee under a finance lease:

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Leased equipment
Cost 1,336 1,545
Accumulated depreciation (102) (209)
Net book amount 1,234 1,336

(b) Basis of valuation - 30 June 2008

The 2008 revaluation used a discounted cash flow 
approach to provide the fair value of all leased and 
owned infrastructure assets across the network .  
Due to the nature of the business assets, prices can 
not be determined individually as there is no similar 
market quoted assets .  The revaluation surplus net 
of applicable deferred income taxes was credited to 
reserves in shareholders’ equity . (note 30) .

(c) Impairment of plant and equipment

Prior to the inception of the NSW lease in September 
2004, the Group identified that not all of the major 
capital programme to rectify and upgrade the network 
would yield a commercial return, particularly in the 
short term .

At the end of the June 2010 financial year, the Group 
undertook impairment testing of the Group's infrastruc-
ture assets in accordance with the requirements of the 
accounting standard AASB 136 Impairment of Assets . 

 At June 2010, the impairment testing resulted in the 
recognition of an impairment loss of $55 .7m (2009: 
$227 .1m) against the North South Corridor .

(d) Carrying amounts that would have 
been recognised if plant & equipment 
and leasehold improvements were 
stated at cost

If plant & equipment and leasehold improvements 
were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts 
would be as follows:

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Plant & Equipment
Cost or deemed cost 394,135 351,586
Accumulated depreciation (84,462) (65,415)
Net book amount 309,673 286,171

Leasehold Improvement
Cost 1,165,413 597,030
Accumulated depreciation (63,977) (41,974)
Net book amount 1,101,436 555,056
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Note 16
Non-current assets - Deferred tax assets

2010 2009
$’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Property plant & equipment 67,282 145,713
Defined Benefit Fund  (note 28) 1,856 1,268
Cash flow hedges (note 30(a)) (6) 7

69,132 146,988
Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July 146,988 164,818
Credited/(charged) to the Consolidated Income Statement related to Property Plant 
and Equipment (note 6) (48,497) (29,817)
Credited/(charged) to equity related to Defined Benefit Fund (note 30(b)) 588 1,268
Credited/(charged) to equity related to Cash Flow Hedge (note 30 (b)) (13) 7
Reclassification of assets from DTL related to Property, Plant and Equipment (29,934) 10,712
Closing balance at 30 June 69,132 146,988

Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months - - 
Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 69,132 146,988
Refer to note 6(d) for recognition criteria for deferred tax assets .
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Note 17
Non-current assets - Intangible assets

Computer 
software Total

$’000 $’000
At 1 July 2008
Cost 5,776 5,776
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (2,044) (2,044)
Net book amount 3,732 3,732

Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net book amount 3,732 3,732
Additions 372 372
Amortisation charge (1,138) (1,138)
Closing net book amount 2,966 2,966

At 30 June 2009
Cost 7,485 7,485
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (4,519) (4,519)
Net book amount 2,966 2,966

Computer 
software Total

$’000 $’000
Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening net book amount 2,966 2,966
Additions 2,847 2,847
Amortisation charge (1,503) (1,503)
Closing net book amount 4,310 4,310

Year ended 30 June 2010
Cost 10,332 10,332
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (6,022) (6,022)
Net book amount 4,310 4,310
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Note 18
Current liabilities - Trade and other payables

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Trade payables 161,020 209,790
Other payables 32 - 

161,052 209,790

(a) Fair value

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their 
carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value .

(b) Risk exposure

Information about the Group's exposure to interest 
rates and liquidity risk is set out in note 2 .

Note 19
Current liabilities - Interest bearing liabilities

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Bank loans 60,000 - 
Total secured current borrowings 60,000 - 

Refer to note 1(s) for current borrowing policy and the adoption of the revised AASB 123 .
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Note 20
Current liabilities - Provisions

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Employee benefits note (a) 30,166 39,150
Coal provision note (b) - 8,224
Incident provision note (c) 18,135 14,141
Other provisions note (d) 949 957

49,250 62,472

(a) Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non 
monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in respect of employees' services up to 
the reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled . 

The liability for long service leave is accumulated from 
the date of commencement . They are measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled . Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels with an allowance for expected 
future increases .

(b) Coal provision

The prior years balance of $8 .2m is a provision 
that related to the Hunter Valley coal revenue, 
where the Group has provided for prior years 
regulatory uncertainty and for the possible transfer 

of funds to train operators upon final completion 
and negotiations of the coal 'Unders and Overs' 
calculation under the regulatory pricing regime . This 
calculation was management's best estimate of the 
Group's present legal and constructive obligation in 
relation to those past expenditures . This has now 
been transferred to accounts receivable refer to note 
8(b) for details .

(c) Incident provision

The incident provision recognises the Group's 
estimate of the liability with respect to costs 
associated with damage caused with incidents such as 
derailments, which occurred whilst using the Group's 
rail infrastructure .

(d) Other Provisions

This provision is comprised of commercial disputes with 
customers that are in the process of being resolved .
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Employee 
benefits

Coal 
provision

Incident 
provision

Other 
provisions Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2010
Current
Carrying amount at start of year 39,150 8,224 14,141 957 62,472

additional provisions recognised 15,890 - 18,492 1,496 35,878
payments/other sacrifices of 

economic benefits (24,874) - (14,498) (1,504) (40,876)
amounts transferred to accounts 

receivable (refer to note 8(b) for 
details) - (8,224) - - (8,224)

Carrying amount at end of year 30,166 - 18,135 949 49,250

Employee 
benefits

Coal 
provision

Incident 
provision

Other 
provisions Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2009
Current
Carrying amount at start of year 37,716 6,238 17,650 1,296 62,900

additional provisions recognised 15,597 6,299 11,392 1,189 34,477
amounts transferred between 

balance sheet accounts 8,726 - - - 8,726
payments/other sacrifices of 

economic benefits (22,889) (4,313) (14,901) (1,528) (43,631)
Carrying amount at end of year 39,150 8,224 14,141 957 62,472

(e) Movement in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, are set out below:
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Note 22
Current liabilities - Deferred income government grants

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Government grants 6,990 4,395
6,990 4,395

The Government grants received by the Group to 30 
June 2010 and classified as current are $7.0m.  

Where the Grants have attached conditions and/
or are project specific, they are recognised at their 
fair value and initially credited to Deferred Income 
upon receipt, then recognised in the Consolidated 

Income Statement over the period necessary to 
match them with the costs that they are intended 
to compensate . Where those Grants relate to 
expenditure that is to be capitalised, they are 
credited to the Consolidated Income Statement on 
a straight line basis over the expected lives of the 
related assets from the date of commissioning . 

Note 21
Current liabilities - Current tax liabilities

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Income tax - 166,840
- 166,840
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Note 23
Current liabilities - Finance lease

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Finance lease 195 182
195 182

(a) Interest rate risk is considered negligible
(b) The carrying amount of the finance lease liabilities approximates fair value.

Note 24
Non-current liabilities -  
Deferred income government grants

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Government grants 330,128 195,603
330,128 195,603

The Government grants received by the Group to 30 June 2010 and classified as non current are $330.1m. 
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Note 25
Non-current liabilities - Finance lease

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Finance lease 834 1,029
834 1,029

(a) Interest rate risk is considered negligible
(b) The carrying amount of the finance lease liabilities approximates fair value.

Note 26
Non-current liabilities - Deferred tax liabilities

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Property plant and equipment revaluation 34,469 64,403
Net deferred tax liabilities 34,469 64,403

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July 64,403 69,870
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement (note 6) - (225)
Charged to other comprehensive income related to Property, Plant and Equipment 

(note 30 (a)) - (15,954)
Reclassification of DTA/DTL relating to Property, Plant and Equipment (29,934) 10,712
Closing balance at 30 June 34,469 64,403

Note 27
Non-current liabilities - Provisions

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Employee benefits 4,090 3,334
4,090 3,334
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Note 28
Defined benefit plans

(a) Superannuation plan

On commencement on 5 September 2004 of 
the 60 year lease with the NSW Government 
to operate the NSW interstate main lines, 
the Hunter Valley rail corridor and dedicated 
metropolitan freight lines to the Sydney 
ports, employees previously employed by 
RIC/SRA and now currently employed by 
ARTC are members of the following defined 
benefit funds: 

State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS) • 
State Superannuation Scheme (SSS)• 
State Authorities Non - Contributory • 
Superannuation Scheme (SANCS)

All the Schemes are closed to new members .

The following sets out details in respect of the defined 
benefit section. 

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 36,152 31,828
Fair value of defined benefit plan assets (29,966) (27,599)
Net (asset)/liability in the Balance Sheet 6,186 4,229

(c) Categories of plan assets
Consolidated

2010 2009
% %

Cash 10 8
Equity instruments 58 58
Fixed interest securities 10 11
Property 10 10
Other assets 12 13
Total 100 100

The asset recognised does not exceed the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
reductions in future contributions to the plan .

(b) Consolidated balance sheet amounts

The amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are determined as follows:
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(d) Reconciliations
Consolidated

2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation,  
which is partly funded:

Balance at the beginning of the year 31,828 24,830
Current service cost 797 575
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,756 1,597
Contributions by plan participants 402 307
Actuarial (gains) and losses   (*) 3,079 3,227
Benefits paid (1,710) 1,292
Balance at the end of the year 36,152 31,828

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets:
Balance at the beginning of the year 27,599 26,271
Expected return on plan assets 1,579 1,141
Actuarial gains and (losses)     (*) 1,121 (2,443)
Employer contributions 975 1,031
Contributions by fund participants 402 307
Benefits paid (1,710) 1,292
Balance at the end of the year 29,966 27,599

(e) Amounts recognised in Consolidated Income Statement
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement are as follows:

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Current service cost 797 575
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,756 1,597
Expected return on assets (2,369) (2,128)
Total included in employee benefits expense 184 44

Actual return on plan assets 2,748 (2,895)

(f) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Consolidated

June June
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Cumulative loss/(gain) 4,531 2,574

Net actuarial loss recognised (refer to (*) above) 1,958 5,670
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(g) Principal actuarial assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows:

Consolidated
2010 2009

Discount rate 5.2% 5.6%
Expected rate of return on assets backing current pension liabilities 8.3% 8.1%
Expected rate of return on assets backing other liabilities 7.3% 8.1%
Future salary increases 4.0% 3.5%

The expected rate of return on assets assumption 
is determined by weighing the expected long term 
return for each asset class by the target allocation of 

assets to each class . The returns used for each class 
are net of investment tax and investment fees . 

( j) Historic summary
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Defined benefit plan obligation (36,152) (31,828) (24,830) (23,547) (19,946)
Plan assets 29,966 27,599 26,271 26,671 20,577
Surplus / (deficit) (6,186) (4,229) 1,441 3,124 631

Experience adjustments arising on plan 
liabilities 3,079 3,226 (870) 384 (318)

Experience adjustments arising on plan 
assets (331) 3,430 3,290 (2,406) (1,708)

(h) Employer contributions

Employer contributions to the defined benefit section 
of the plan are based on recommendations by the 
plan's actuary

The method used to determine the employer 
contribution recommendations at the last actuarial 
review was the Aggregate Funding method . The 
method adopted affects the timing of the cost to 
the employer .

Under the Aggregate Funding method, the employer 
contribution rate is determined so that sufficient 
assets will be available to meet benefit payments to 
existing members, taking into account the current 
value of assets and future contributions .

Total employer contributions expected to be paid by 
Group companies for the year ending 30 June 2011 
are $751k .

(i) Net financial position of plan The economic assumptions used by the actuary to 
make the funding recommendations were an expected 
rate of return on fund assets of 8 .6%pa (FY 2009: 
8 .3%), a salary increase rate of 3 .5%pa (FY2009: 4 .0%) 
and an inflation rate of 2.5%pa (FY 2009: 2.5%)
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Note 29
Contributed equity

(a) Share capital Consolidated  entity
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Fully paid 1,424,026 657,126
1,424,026 657,126

Number of ordinary shares 1,332,275,100 565,375,100

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital:

Date Details Number of shares $’000

1-Jul-08 Opening balance 143,375,100 235,126
Share Capital issued during the year 422,000,000 422,000

30-Jun-09 Balance 565,375,100 657,126

1-Jul-09 Opening balance 565,375,100 657,126
Share capital issued during the year 766,900,000 766,900

30-Jun-10 Balance 1,332,275,100 1,424,026

(c) Ordinary shares

During the year the Group issued 766,900,000 shares 
at $1 to its shareholder as part of the capital injection 
announced in December 2008 and received in July 
2009 ($678m) and May 2010 ($88 .9m) . On a show of 
hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a 

meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, 
and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote .

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in 
dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
company in proportion to the number of and amounts 
paid on the shares held .  

(d) Capital risk management

Management's objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that they can continue to provide returns for sharehold-
ers and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital .

In managing its capital structure and in accordance 
with agreements relating to the take up of the NSW 

lease, it has been agreed that the Group will reinvest 
any profits in the period to June 2010 rather than 
making any dividend payments to its shareholders . 
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed 
capital requirements .

On 18 January 2010 ARTC executed a 3 year Syndicated 
Debt Facility agreement with a consortium of major 
Australian Banks totalling $550m . Funds have been 
utilised against this facility as at 30 June 2010 .

(e) Financial The Group has received $766 .9m as equity injections in 
the 2009/10 financial year. 

ARTC's dividend holiday has been extended to 2013/14 
subject to monitoring of ARTC's financial position over 
this period .
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Note 30
Reserves and retained earnings

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

(a) Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve 737,831 747,370
Hedging reserve 13 (17)

737,844 747,353

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Movements:
Reserves

Balance 1 July 747,353 832,083
Revaluation - gross (note 15) - (100,667)
Deferred tax (note 26) - 15,954
Asset Revaluation Reserve (9,539) - 
Hedge asset (note 12) 19 - 
Hedge reserve (13) 7
 Hedge liability (note 12) 24 (24)
Balance 30 June 737,844 747,353

(b) Retained earnings
Movements in retained earnings were as follows:

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Balance 1 July 233,529 781,852
Profit/(Loss) for the year 94,265 (543,921)
Actuarial gains(losses) on defined benefit plans (note 28(f)) (1,958) (5,670)
Transfer from reserves 9,539 - 
Tax effect on defined benefit fund for 2009/10 (note 16) 588 1,268
Balance 30 June 335,963 233,529

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Asset revaluation reserve

The property, plant and equipment revaluation 
reserve is used to record increments and 
decrements on the revaluation of non current 
infrastructure assets .

(ii) Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of 
the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow 
hedging instruments related to hedged transactions 
that have not yet occurred, as described in note 1(n) . 
Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when the 
associated hedged transaction affects profit or loss.
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Note 31
Directors and Key Management Personnel disclosures

(a) Directors

The following persons were Directors of ARTC during 
the financial year:

(i) Chairman - non executive

J R Caldon  • 
(commenced as Chairman 21 January 2010)
B K Murphy  • 
(ceased as Chairman 20 January 2010)

(ii) Executive Director

D W Marchant (Chief Executive Officer)• 
(iii) Non executive Directors

L Di Bartolomeo • 
G Brown  • 
(appointed as Director on 30 June 2010)
D Howarth• 
G D Walters• 
O M Johnstone Donnet  • 
(ceased as Director on 29 June 2010) 
A J P Staines  • 
(ceased as Director on 3 May 2010)

(b) Key Management Personnel

The following persons were Key Management 
Personnel of ARTC during the financial year:

Chief Operating Officer•   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . G W James
Chief Financial Officer•   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . A J Bishop
General Manager Commercial•   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .S Ormsby
General Manager Communications and  • 
Control Systems  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . M van de Worp
General Manager CRN/Services•   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . T Frazer
General Manager East West•   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . A Demertzis
General Manager Hunter Valley•   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . T Ryan
General Manager North/South•   .  .  .  .  . A MacKenzie
General Manager Risk and  • 
Compliance/General Counsel  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . S R Gray
General Manager Corporate Services and  • 
Company Secretary (part year)  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .G Atkinson
General Manager Hunter Valley  • 
(part year) .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . D McMillan Hall

(b) Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 4,703,486 4,973,457
Post-employment benefits 594,780 268,540

5,298,266 5,241,997

Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel

The list of Directors and Key Management personnel of the Group who were paid, or were due to be paid, 
remuneration (including brokerage, commissions, bonuses and salaries but excluding payments in connection 
with their retirement), or indirectly, from the Group are shown above . The total of all remuneration paid, or due 
and payable, directly or indirectly, from the Group to the Directors and Key Management Personnel was $5,298,266 
(2009: $5,241,997) . 
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Note 32
Remuneration of auditors

Consolidated
June June
2010 2009

$ $

(a) Assurance services
Audit services
The following total remuneration was received or is due and receivable, by the 

Australian National Audit Office in respect of its services, including those performed 
by its contractors KPMG: (2009: Ernst & Young)

Auditing the financial report of the entity in the consolidated group. 206,500 221,500
Total remuneration for audit services 206,500 221,500

Other assurance services
The following total remuneration was received or is due and receivable, by the 

Australian National Audit Office in respect of its services, including those 
performed by its contractors KPMG: (2009: Ernst & Young)

Fees for Auslink Grant Audit 6,000 6,000
Total remuneration for audit related services 6,000 6,000

(b) Other services
Preparation and completion of Research and Development Return* 227,050 323,479
Other non audit services 4,050 -
Preparation and completion of income tax returns and general taxation advice  

(2009: Ernst & Young) - 123,981
Other non audit services (2009: Ernst & Young) - 49,793

Total remuneration for taxation services 231,100 497,253

* Services performed pursuant to contracted appointment prior to commencement as external auditors.

Note 33
Contingencies

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The consolidated entity accounts for costs 
associated with rectifying rail access related 
incidents following their occurrence . Income from 
subsequent insurance and other recoveries is only 

recognised when there is a contractual arrangement 
in place and the income is virtually certain of being 
received . As a result, certain potential insurance and 
or other recoveries have not been recognised at year 
end, as their ultimate collection is not considered 
virtually certain .
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Note 34
Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

At 30 June 2010, the Group has commitments in the 
order of $1 .2b relating to the substantial investment 
program that the Group will be undertaking in the 
North South and Hunter Valley interstate corridor in 
the coming years .

The scope of the work is over a range of projects along 
the corridor, with the focus on repairing, renovating 
and rebuilding the rail infrastructure assets to address 
rail's performance on the corridor.

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting 
date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Property, plant and equipment
Payable:
Within one year 662,408 347,103
Later than one year but not later than five years 566,143 6,500
Later than five years - - 

1,228,551 353,603

Commitments include $1 .042b of capital improvement projects for which an equity contribution was received . 
These projects are not contractually committed to be completed .

(b) Lease commitments : Group 
company as lessee
The Group leases various offices and 
warehouses under operating leases expiring 
within one to eight years .  The leases have 

varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal 
rights .  On renewal, the terms of the leases are 
renegotiated .

The Group also leases motor vehicles under 
operating leases .

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but  

not recognised as liabilities, payable:
Within one year 4,699 4,623
Later than one year but not later than five years 14,042 6,276
Later than five years 1,409 990

20,150 11,889

(i) Finance leases

The Group leases various plant and equipment with a 
carrying amount of $1.2m (2009 - $1.3m) under finance 

leases expiring within seven years .  Under the terms 
of the leases, the Group has the option to acquire the 
leased assets for the agreed residual value on expiry 
of the leases .
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Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:
Within one year 261 261
Later than one year but not later than five years 943 1,119
Later than five years - 85
Minimum lease payments 1,204 1,465

Future finance charges (175) (254)
Recognised as a liability 1,029 1,211

Representing lease liabilities:
Current 195 182
Non-current 834 1,029

1,029 1,211
The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 6 .98% .

(c) Lease commitments : where the Group is the lessor

The Group has entered into various property leases with terms of the lease ranging from 1 year to indefinite.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under operating leases are as follows:

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Within one year 3,653 3,426
Later than one year and not later than five years 15,306 14,175
Later than five years 11,514 9,799

30,473 27,400
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Note 35
Related party disclosures

(a) Ultimate controlling entity

ARTC is the ultimate Australian parent entity within 
the Group and the ultimate controlling entity of the 
Group is the Commonwealth Government .

(b) Directors

A Director related entity includes any legal, 
administrative or fiduciary arrangement, 
organisational structure or other party, including 
a person, having the capacity to deploy equity 
instruments in order to achieve objectives . The entity 
must be under joint or overall control or significant 
influence of a Director or his/her related parties.   

Other than those listed below there were no other 
related party transactions with Directors at year end. 
(2009: $ nil)

ARTC Director, Mr. L Di Bartolomeo is a Director of 
Downer EDI Limited, a firm that the Group has a 
commercial relationship with .  As a non executive 
Director he has no direct involvement in the specific 

bidding process of its operating divisions . The Group 
deals with Downer EDI and its operating divisions 
under normal commercial terms and conditions .

ARTC Director, Mr G Walters is Non Executive Chair of 
Westpac’s SA Executive Committee . Westpac is one 
of four banks that provide a Syndicated Debt Facility 
to the Group and is the appointed Agent on behalf of 
that Syndicate .

There were no loans to Directors at year end 
(2009:$nil) .

(c) Key management personnel

There were no related party transactions with Key 
management personnel at year end . (2009: $ nil) 

(d) Other related parties transactions 
including shareholders
There were no other related party transactions at year 
end . (2009: $ nil)

Note 36
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statement incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(d):

Name of entity Country of incorporation Equity holding
2010 2009

% %

ARTC Services Company Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Standard Gauge Company Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
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Note 37
Economic dependency

A significant level of the Group's track access revenue relates to a single rail operator. If not for this revenue, the 
Group would find it difficult to maintain the current level of revenue and profit.

Note 38
Significant events after the balance date

Equity injection

The Group received an equity injection of $558 .2m from the Commonwealth Government’s as per its announcement 
in the 2010 Federal Budget to invest further equity in ARTC to build on existing investment strategies and deliver 
productivity benefits to the overall economy through investment in transport infrastructure.

Note 39
Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow 
from operating activities

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Profit/(Loss) for the year 94,265 (543,921)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 80,008 68,409
Recognition of impairment loss 55,739 227,141
Gain on extinguishment of tax debt (81,073) -
Net (gain)/loss on sale of non current assets 17,911 -
Net finance costs (excluding gain on extinguishment of tax debt) 2,671 - 

Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 169,521 (248,371)

Decrease/(Increase) in trade debtors and other receivables (5,740) 2,345
Decrease/(Increase in taxes receivable (18,555) - 
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 19,250 (8,137)
(Increase) in other current assets (5,107) (251)
Decrease in deferred tax assets 77,856 19,105
Increase/(Decrease) in trade creditors (4,516) 108,649
Decrease in provisions (10,517) (9,545)
Increase /(Decrease) in deferred income attributable to operating activities 16,990 (2,301)
Increase/(Decrease) in provision for income taxes payable (166,840) 155,743
(Decrease)/Increase in deferred tax liabilities (29,934) 10,487
Interest paid (79) (91)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 42,329 27,633
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Note 40
Parent entity financial information

(a) Summary financial information

The individual financial statements for the parent entity (Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd) show the following 
aggregate amounts:

Parent entity
2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Balance sheet
Current assets 196,737 256,049

Non-current assets 2,951,174 2,093,629

Total assets 3,147,911 2,349,678

Current liabilities 277,409 445,146

Non-current liabilities 375,442 268,364

Total liabilities 652,851 713,510

Shareholders’ equity
Contributed equity 1,424,026 657,126

Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve 737,831 747,370
Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges 13 (17)

Retained earnings 333,190 231,689
2,495,060 1,636,168

Profit or (Loss) for the year 93,331 (544,177)

(b) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

The parent entity accounts for costs associated with rectifying rail access related incidents following their 
occurrence . Income from subsequent insurance and other recoveries is only recognised when there is a contractual 
arrangement in place and the income is probable of being received . As a result, certain potential insurance and or 
other recoveries have not been recognised at year end, as their ultimate collection is not considered probable .

(c) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment

As at 30 June 2010, the parent entity had contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or 
equipment totalling $1 .2b (30 June 2009 - $353 .6m) .  These commitments are not recognised as liabilities as the 
relevant assets have not yet been received .
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Directors’
Declaration
30 June 2010

In the Directors’ of Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd’s (“the consolidated entity”) opinion:

(a) the consolidated financial statements and notes set out on pages 43 to 97 are in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements, and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 
2010 and of its performance, as represented by the results of its operations, changes in 
equity and its cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date; 

(b) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 43 to 97 are also in accordance with the 
international financial reporting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board; and

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Australian Rail Track Corporation Ltd will 
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable .

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

J R Caldon 
Director

Signed in Canberra 
On the 25th day of August 2010
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Independent Audit Report
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Key Performance Indicators
East West

KPI Sept 2009 Dec 2009 Mar 2010 Jun 2010

Services 1593 1666 1562 1555

Force Majeure 7 11 19 14

On Time Entry 1066 953 936 959

On Time Exit 1023 978 1068 1086

% On Time Entry 67.20% 57.60% 60.70% 62.20%

% On Time Exit 64.50% 59.10% 69.20% 70.50%

Healthy Services 1048 1023 1087 1103

% Healthy 66.10% 61.80% 70.40% 71.60%

Healthy On Time Exit 1023 978 1068 1086

% Healthy On Time Exit 97.60% 95.60% 98.30% 98.50%

Unhealthy Services 538 632 456 438

% Unhealthy Services 33.90% 38.20% 29.60% 28.40%

Late Entry 267 370 277 264

% Late Entry 16.80% 22.40% 18.00% 17.10%

Unhealth Enroute 271 262 179 174

Deteriorated 92 120 59 46

% Unhealthy Undeteriorated 82.90% 81.00% 87.10% 89.50%

ARTC Delays
Train Management 1998 2768 1195 1156

Communications 2225 3026 476 529

Signalling 7497 12755 7065 7292

Track Fault 19794 24676 16727 11887

ARTC Total 31514 43225 25463 20864

Operator Delays
Late Entry 52181 81072 83865 68213

Crew Personel 19654 22980 25444 25607

Terminal 26335 20373 16494 16773

Operator Run 83117 72824 68229 71862

Slow Running 21401 25737 23492 21118

Operator Preference 2349 5691 2846 2197

Rolling Stock 12821 17960 16034 15919

Operator Total 217858 246637 236404 221689

Neither Delays
3rd Party 27191 63734 52864 44071

Force Majeure 2054 2329 9891 2541

Neither Total 29245 66063 62755 46612

Total Delays 278617 355925 324622 289165

DelaysPerService  174  214  204  186 
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KPI Sept 2009 Dec 2009 Mar 2010 Jun 2010

Services 1642 1601 1559 1603

Force Majeure 3 27 10 4

On Time Entry 1338 1138 1267 1369

On Time Exit 1172 963 1101 1177

% On Time Entry 81.60% 72.30% 81.80% 85.60%

% On Time Exit 71.50% 61.20% 71.10% 73.60%

Healthy Services 1319 1080 1170 1277

% Healthy 80.50% 68.60% 75.50% 79.90%

Healthy On Time Exit 1172 963 1101 1177

% Healthy On Time Exit 88.90% 89.20% 94.10% 92.20%

Unhealthy Services 320 494 379 322

% Unhealthy Services 19.50% 31.40% 24.50% 20.10%

Late Entry 127 275 171 119

% Late Entry 7.70% 17.50% 11.00% 7.40%

Unhealth Enroute 193 219 208 203

Deteriorated 69 109 58 52

% Unhealthy Undeteriorated 78.40% 77.90% 84.70% 83.90%

ARTC Delays
Train Management 4606 3623 2022 3152

Communications 634 476 662 514

Signalling 5353 8439 5914 4151

Track Fault 21737 25678 13798 18789

ARTC Total 32330 38216 22396 26606

Operator Delays
Late Entry 23055 54896 34698 29058

Crew Personel 10043 11778 12039 12593

Terminal 13258 7304 8362 5552

Operator Run 16235 9347 9348 12376

Slow Running 10339 15520 14476 13366

Operator Preference 1651 5266 4260 3412

Rolling Stock 4474 7394 5126 4846

Operator Total 79055 111505 88309 81203

Neither Delays
3rd Party 20564 35019 41477 44720

Force Majeure 213 6700 3717 287

Neither Total 20777 41719 45194 45007

Total Delays 132162 191440 155899 152816

DelaysPerService  81  117  98  95 

Key Performance Indicators
North South
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